Artificial Intelligence-Based Prediction of Molten Steel Temperature of Induction Furnace in Computational Fluid Dynamics (CFD) Environment



By

Hafiza Anza Hayat

School of Chemical and Materials Engineering

National University of Sciences and Technology

Year 2023

Artificial Intelligence-Based Prediction of Molten Steel Temperature of Induction Furnace in Computational Fluid Dynamics (CFD) Environment



Names: Hafiza Anza Hayat

Reg. No: 363822

This thesis is submitted as a partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

MS in Process Systems Engineering

Supervisor Name: Dr. Muhammad Ahsan

School of Chemical and Materials Engineering (SCME)

National University of Sciences and Technology (NUST)

H-12 Islamabad, Pakistan

August, 2023



THESIS ACCEPTANCE CERTIFICATE

Certified that final copy of MS thesis written by Ms Hafiza Anza Hayat (Registration No 00000363822), of School of Chemical & Materials Engineering (SCME) has been vetted by undersigned, found complete in all respects as per NUST Statues/Regulations, is free of plagiarism, errors, and mistakes and is accepted as partial fulfillment for award of MS degree. It is further certified that necessary amendments as pointed out by GEC members of the scholar have also been incorporated in the said thesis.

Signature:

Name of Supervisor: Dr Muhammad Ahsan

Date: 03-10-2023

Signature (Dean/Principal): _____ Date: ______ 3 • 10 • 10 • 10

Form TH-1



National University of Sciences & Technology (NUST) MASTER'S THESIS WORK

Formulation of Guidance and Examination Committee (GEC)

Name:	<u>Hafiza Anza Hayat</u>	NUST Reg	No:0000363	822	
Department:	Department of Chemical	Specializat	tion: <u>Master of S</u>	Science in Process System	
	Engineering		Engineerin	g	
Credit Hour Completed: 24.0		CGPA:	3.75		

Course Work Completed

S/No:	Code:	Title:	Core/Elective:	CH:	Grade
1.	PSE-801	Process Systems Theory	Compulsory	3.0	A
2.	PSE-852	Process Modelling and Simulation	Compulsory	3.0	A
3.	TEE-820	Process Intensification	Elective	3.0	А
4.	RM-898	Research Methodology	Additional	2.0	Q
5.	PSE-802	Optimization and Decision Analysis	Compulsory	3.0	А
6.	PSE-823	Advanced Process Dynamics and Control	Compulsory	3.0	B+
7.	CSE-801	Computational Fluid Dynamics	Elective	3.0	B+
8.	ENE-809	Waste Water Treatment & Design	Elective	3.0	B+
9.	EME-902	Numerical Methods In Chemical Engineering	Elective	3.0	B+

Date 29 - Nov - 2022

Thesis Committee

- L. Name: <u>Muhammad Ahsan</u> (Supervisor) Department: <u>Department of Chemical Engineering</u>
- 2. Name: <u>Iftikhar Ahmad</u> (Cosupervisor) Department: <u>Department of Chemical Engineering</u>
- Name: <u>Dr. Nouman Ahmad (Internal)</u>
 Department: <u>Department of Chemical Engineering</u>
- I. Name: <u>Sher Ahmad</u> (Internal) Department: <u>Department of Chemical Engineering</u>

Date: <u>29 - Nov - 2022</u>

Signature of Head of Department:

Student's Signature

Signature

Signature

Signature

Signature

APPROVAL

)ate: <u>29 - Nov - 2022</u>

Signature of Dean/Principal:

School of Chemical & Materials Engineering (SCME) (SCME) H-12 Campus,

1.7





National University of Sciences & Technology (NUST)

MASTER'S THESIS WORK

We hereby recommend that the dissertation prepared under our supervision by

Regn No & Name: 00000363822 Hafiza Anza Hayat

Title: <u>Artificial intelligence-based prediction of molten steel temperature of induction furnace</u> in computational fluid dynamic (CFD) environment.

Presented on: 14 Sep 2023

at: 1500 hrs in SCME (Seminar Hall)

Be accepted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the award of Master of Science degree in **Process Systems Engineering**.

Guidance & Examination Committee Members

Name: <u>Dr Sher Ahmad</u> Name: <u>Dr Nouman Ahmad</u> Name: <u>Dr Iftikhar Ahmad (Co-Supervisor)</u>

Supervisor's Name: Dr Muhammad Ahsan

Signature: Signature: Signature: Signature: 09 2023 Dated:

Head of Department Date 26 9 23

Dean/Principa Date

School of Chemical & Materials Engineering (SCME)

Dedication

This thesis is dedicated to family, teachers and friends for their endless support, encouragement, love and honor.

Acknowledgment

All praise and eminence are due to "ALLAH," the undisputed architect of this world, who gave us the capacity for comprehension and sparked our curiosity about the planet as a whole. Warmest welcomes to the supreme ruler of this world and the hereafter, "Prophet Mohammed (PBUH)," a source of knowledge and benefits for all of humanity as well as for Uma.

I would like to acknowledge and express my sincere gratitude to my research supervisor, Dr. Muhammad Ahsan for his endless support, supervision and affectionate guidance to steer me in the right direction whenever he thought I needed it. I would also like to extend gratitude to my co-supervisor Dr. Iftikhar Ahmad and committee members; Dr. Sher Ahmad and Dr. Nouman Ahmad for their valuable suggestions and guidance.

I would also like to thank Prof. Dr. Amir Azam Khan (Principal School of Chemical and Materials Engineering) and Dr. Erum Pervaiz (HOD Department of Chemical Engineering) for providing a research-oriented platform to effectively utilize my skills in accomplishing this research work.

In the end, I must express my very profound gratitude to my parents for providing me with unfailing support and continuous encouragement throughout my years of study and through the process of researching and writing this thesis. This accomplishment would not have been possible without them.

Hafiza Anza Hayat

Abstract

The efficient and precise control of molten steel temperature in an induction furnace is paramount in modern steelmaking processes. This master's thesis presents a novel approach to address this critical challenge that combines the power of Artificial Intelligence (AI) with Computational Fluid Dynamics (CFD) to predict and regulate the molten steel temperature accurately.

The primary objective of this study is to develop an AI-based predictive model that can anticipate the molten steel temperature in real-time, enhancing process control, optimizing energy consumption, and ultimately improving product quality. The research methodology encompasses four main stages: data collection and preprocessing, AI model selection, CFD simulation, and model validation.

The first phase focuses on creating a comprehensive CFD environment to simulate the induction furnace's thermal behavior, incorporating thermal boundary conditions and leveraging data augmentation techniques to generate a substantial dataset. In the second phase, several AI models are evaluated, and the most suitable one is selected based on performance metrics. The final phase entails training and validating the chosen AI model using the simulated data.

The thesis introduces an AI model to address the complexities and dynamics of the induction furnace environment. This model harnesses the power of machine learning algorithms, enabling it to capture intricate patterns and non-linear relationships in the data, leading to more accurate temperature predictions.

The study's results showcase the effectiveness and reliability of the proposed AI-based predictive model, demonstrating a notable improvement in temperature prediction accuracy compared to traditional methods. The thesis also explores real-world case studies, validating the model's applicability and efficiency in practical steelmaking scenarios.

In conclusion, this research successfully establishes a novel approach for predicting molten steel temperature in an induction furnace using AI within a CFD environment. The outcomes offer valuable insights into the steel industry, fostering more intelligent decision-making, reduced energy wastage, and enhanced process control. Additionally, this work sets a foundation for further exploration of AI integration in steelmaking processes and opens avenues for future research in related domains.

Table of Contents

Chapter	11
Introduc	tion1
1.1.	Motivation1
1.2.	Research Problem
1.3.	Scope of The Study5
1.4.	Contribution of The Thesis
1.5.	Thesis Outline
Chapter	2
Literatu	re Review
2.1.	Introduction to Artificial Intelligence and Machine Learning
2.2.	Applications of AI in Computational Fluid Dynamics (CFD)10
2.3.	Previous Studies on Molten Steel Temperature Prediction
2.4.	Comparison of Different AI Techniques for Temperature Prediction18
2.5.	Gap Analysis and Research Opportunities
Chapter	324
Research	h Methodology24
3.1.	Overview of Induction Furnace and CFD Modeling24

3.2.	Data Collection and Preprocessing	9
3.3.	Feature Selection and Engineering	0
3.4.	AI Model Selection and Justification	0
3.5.	Model Training and Validation	2
3.6.	Performance Metrics	3
Chapter	4	5
Inductio	on Furnace Simulation and Data Generation	5
4.1.	CFD Simulation Setup and Parameters	5
4.2.	Thermal Boundary Conditions4	1
4.3.	Generation of Training and Testing Data4	1
Chapter	5	3
Artificia	al Intelligence Model Architecture4	3
5.1.	Overview of the Chosen AI Model4	3
5.2.	Model Architecture and Components4	6
5.3.	Training Procedure	9
5.4.	Hyperparameter Optimization	0
Chapter	6	3
Results	and Discussion	3

6.1.	CFD Modelling and Validation	.53
6.2.	Performance Evaluation of AI Model	.54
6.3.	Analysis of Model Accuracy and Robustness	.56
6.4.	Interpretation of Results	.58
Conclus	sion and Recomendations	.60
Summary of Findings60		
Implications of the Study60		
Future Research Directions61		
References		

List of Figures

Figure 1: Schematic Methodology of Thesis
Figure 2: Supervised Learning
Figure 3: Unsupervised Learning
Figure 4: Integration of CFD and AI Based on Model Selection [34]11
Figure 5: Application of AI in CFD Based on Heat Transfer [34]13
Figure 6: Sketch of The Geometry
Figure 7: Meshing Details of The Geometry
Figure 8: Structure of an Artificial Neuron [101]44
Figure 9: Architecture of Multiple Input and Single Output ANN (MISO)48
Figure 10: Proposed Architecture ANN Model48
Figure 11: Temperature Contour Plots of Induction Furnace
Figure 12: Three-Dimensional View of Induction Furnace
Figure 13: Regression Plots of ANN Model (a) Training Plot (b) Testing Plot (c) Validation Plot (d) Overall Plot
Figure 14: Comparison Plots of ANN and CFD Model (a) 25 Minutes (b) 50 Minutes (c) 75 Minutes (d) 100 Minutes
Figure 15: Comparison Plots of ANN and CFD Model (e) 125 Minutes (f) 150 Minutes

List of Tables

Table 1: Comparison of Different AI Techniques and Application in	Temperature
Prediction	21
Table 2: Dimensions of Geometry [85]	37
Table 3: Mesh Statistics [85]	
Table 4: Initial and Boundary Conditions [85]	41
Table 5: ANN Modelling Results Obtained from Different Number of Neuro	ons52
Table 6: Comparison of Modelling and Literature Results [85]	54

Nomenclature

CFD	Computational Fluid Dynamics
FEM	Finite Element Method
AI	Artificial Intelligence
ANN	Artificial Neural Network
ML	Machine Learning
SL	Supervised Learning
UL	Unsupervised Learning
DNS	Direct Numerical Simulation
CNN	Convolutional Neural Network
BP	Back Propagation
LSTM	Long Short-Term Memory Network
DNN	Deep Neural Network
RNN	Recurrent Neural Network
SVM	Support Vector Machines
RF	Random Forest
MARS	Multivariate Adaptive Regression Splines
KNN	k-Nearest Neighbors
ODE	Ordinary Differential Equation
PDE	Partial Differential Equation
MSE	Mean Square Error
RMSE	Root Mean Square Error
\mathbb{R}^2	Coefficient of Determination
MISO	Multiple Input Single Output
LMA	Levenberg Marquardt Algorithm
SSE	Sum Squared Error
CEE	Cross Entropy Error
∇	Divergence
Н	Magnetic Flux Intensity
D	Electric Flux Intensity
E	Electric Field
J	Conduction Current Density
А	Magnetic Vector Potential
t	time
T	Temperature
ρ^{charge}	Electric Charge Density
С	Specific Heat
k	Thermal Conductivity
Q	Heat Generated
i	Data Points
Ym	Average of The Values
Y _i ,pred	Predicted ANN Network
Y _{i,CFD}	CFD Modelling Output
Q	Number of Data Points

j	Current Density
je	External Current Density
ω	Frequency
ϵ_0	Free Space Reactive Permittivity
ϵ_r	Relative Permittivity
μ_0	Free Space Magnetic Permeability
μ_r	Relative Permeability
ν	Velocity Vector
μ	Dynamic Viscosity
F	Volumetric Force
Σ	Sum of All
net	Network

Chapter 1

Introduction

1.1. Motivation

Energy has always been a necessity for living but in the present age, it is inevitable to survive without it. It is the lifeline of industries being used as means of transport, agriculture, production plants and electrical energy [1-3]. In response to modernization in all sectors of life, renewable energy sources are depleting at a rapid rate due to its high consumption. In 2008, it was reported that the global consumption of petroleum-based fuel was 85.6 million barrels per day which is expected to reach 112.2 million barrels per day by 2035 through statistical analysis [4]. To bridge the gap, energy production should be increased relative to its consumption. Also, that focus should be made on energy efficient processes.

Iron-making stainless steel industries are one of the most energy-intensive industries where energy contributes to major proportion of operating and utilities cost [5, 6]. A country's economic standing thus depends on iron and steel making industries. These industries are also referred as sustainable industries as it is completely recyclable. Steel industries also pictures a country's competency in infrastructure development. About 5% of energy consumed globally is solemnly by iron and steel manufacturing sector [7-10].

Steel can be considered as a significant engineering material in terms of global economy as despite the COVID-19 pandemic situation recently observed, more than 1.9 billion tons of crude steel were produced in 2020 [11]. With the rapid advancement and heavily increasing market demands, iron and steel manufacturing sector can undoubtedly be termed as backbone of the modern society due to its innovative capabilities to keep up with the pace [12].

Over the past few decades, a significant growth is observed in steel production globally accounting 1700 million tons in 2017 alone. China being the biggest manufacturer of steel holds the responsibility of producing about half of the world's total steel production [13, 14]. Conventionally, oxygen steelmaking route was used for steel production but with development in technology world, focus has shifted towards electric route. The ratio of steel production in China from oxygen route to electric route is 53:47, highest being oxygen steelmaking route. India comes second and produces around 30% of its annual production by induction furnace due its recent popularity and advantages [15].

World steel association records average world per capita consumption of crude steel to be about 233 kgs. The highest being South Korea (1076 kgs) whereas, Pakistan's per capital of steel consumption (59 kgs) is even lower than the world average as well as from its regional country, India (76kgs). For a developing country like Pakistan, it is necessary to intensify its iron and steel manufacturing sector instead of playing a major share in importing steel [16]. Pakistan not only imports raw material but also the finished product which is not at all economical and fluctuations in exchange rate plays a big role in decreasing Pak Rupee worth. Therefore, Pakistan has brought its focus in this sector recently and in the year 2016-17, 18% of GDP was contributed by industrial sector which crosses agricultural sector by 2%.

It was observed that from 1996 to 2007, energy consumption increased by 1.44 quadrillion BTU having annual increasing rate of 3.38%. It is to be noted that the energy demand of industrial sectors is greater than agricultural sector hence moving towards industrialization would significantly increase country's overall energy consumption. The records of 2015 showed that the total amount of energy supplied was 93.91 million tons of oil equivalent that breaks down into energy consumed around 23.77% by industrial sector and only 0.98% by agricultural sector. Iron and steel-making plants are the focal point because of their major share about 13.45% in overall GDP of Pakistan and 64.4% GDP in industrial sector therefore, energy efficient process in the plant can remarkably lessen the energy consumption of the country [16].

The steel industry hence, concluded is a fundamental pillar of modern infrastructure, playing a pivotal role in various sectors, from construction to automotive and aerospace. Achieving consistent high-quality steel production is of paramount importance for the industry's competitiveness and sustainable growth. The molten steel temperature inside an induction furnace is a critical parameter that directly influences product quality, energy efficiency, and overall operational costs. Therefore, accurate and real-time prediction of this temperature is vital for optimizing the steelmaking process and ensuring the desired properties of the final product.

1.2. Research Problem

Furnace is basically a type of direct fired heat exchanger in which a heat source increases the temperature of the feed to a high degree. Induction furnace is a type of furnace in which heat source is electricity thus also known as electric furnace. The advantage of such a furnace is that it is a clean, energy efficient and easily controllable melting process in comparison to other metal melting methods. Induction furnaces are thus ideally used for melting and alloying of metals giving lowest melt losses possible [17].

The working principle of induction furnace is induction heating. Induction heating is gaining an upper hand over other conventional heating techniques such as flame, resistance heating or ovens. It is a non-contact, quick and efficient heating method. Lately, induction heating is being preferably used for industrial, medical and domestic purposes [18-20]. The working phenomena involves an ac source that delivers alternating voltage to an induction heating coil. The coil produces alternating magnetic field. The charge (feed metal to be melted) is placed inside the coil. As a result of magnetic field, the charge heats up because of either electromagnetic induction or joule's effect [21].

The joule's effect is the main heating mechanism in induction heating caused by opposition of eddy currents to magnetic field generated in the induction charge. Whereas, in electromagnetic induction, an alternating current is induced on placing the loop in an alternating magnetic field. The moment loop is short-circuited, the voltage causes the

current to flow in a direction such that it opposes the change that caused it – Faraday's Lenz Law [22, 23].

Such complex pattern of induction heating couples the behavior of electromagnetic, thermal, and hydrodynamic forces. For such intricate systems, traditional analytical methods are unreliable to completely understand the working and thus, bring improvements in its efficiency. The research problems concerns prediction of temperature accurately inside the induction furnace for optimizing steel production process, ensuring product quality and minimizing energy consumption. Computational Fluid Dynamics (CFD) simulations have proven to be effective in analyzing such complexities. Furthermore, accurate forecasts without explicit equations are made possible by AI algorithms, which can make use of large datasets and extract complex patterns. AI has the ability to dramatically increase the precision and effectiveness of temperature prediction in induction furnaces when used in conjunction with CFD models, which offer thorough insights into fluid movement, heat transport, and other physical phenomena inside the furnace [24-26].

However, the successful integration of ANN with CFD in the context of temperature prediction for molten steel in an induction furnace poses several research challenges:

Data Fusion and Preprocessing: Combining data from CFD simulations with real-world industrial data to train the ANN accurately is challenging due to the inherent noise and uncertainties present in both types of data. Developing efficient data preprocessing techniques to handle these challenges is crucial for achieving reliable temperature predictions.

Model Architecture Selection: Designing an optimal ANN architecture that can effectively capture the complex and nonlinear relationships between process variables in the induction furnace and accurately predict temperature distribution is a critical research problem. Identifying the appropriate number of layers, nodes, and activation functions in the ANN to achieve the best performance poses a challenge.

Training and Optimization: Training an ANN using CFD and industrial data requires careful consideration of training algorithms and optimization techniques to achieve convergence and prevent overfitting. Exploring novel optimization strategies to enhance the efficiency and accuracy of the ANN model in predicting temperature is essential.

Generalization to Varying Operating Conditions: The induction furnace operates under various conditions, such as changes in steel composition, charging rates, and furnace geometry. Ensuring the ANN can generalize well to diverse operating conditions is a critical research problem to create a robust and versatile temperature prediction model.

Addressing these research challenges will lead to the development of an effective and reliable artificial intelligence-based temperature prediction model for molten steel in induction furnaces. This model can potentially revolutionize the steel manufacturing industry by optimizing energy consumption, enhancing product quality, and facilitating process automation.

1.3. Scope of The Study

The thesis investigates the application of Artificial Intelligence (AI), specifically Artificial Neural Networks (ANN), for temperature prediction of molten steel in an induction furnace using Computational Fluid Dynamics (CFD) simulations in the COMSOL Multiphysics environment. Key aspects include setting up a comprehensive CFD model, collecting and preprocessing relevant data from CFD simulations and real-world industrial processes, implementing an ANN-based model, training and validating the ANN, comparing the ANN predictions with conventional methods, and exploring optimization strategies to enhance the ANN's training process and improve prediction accuracy. The study will also compare the ANN predictions with empirical models, basic regression techniques, or other established methodologies to establish the effectiveness of the proposed AI-based approach. The scope also includes exploring and implementing optimization, to achieve the best possible results.

It is important to note that the scope of this study may be limited to a specific type or size of the induction furnace, a particular steel composition, or a set of operating conditions. Researchers should acknowledge these limitations while drawing conclusions and discussing the potential applications of the developed AI-based temperature prediction model.

1.4. Contribution of The Thesis

This thesis develops an AI-based prediction model for estimating molten temperature in an induction furnace in a CFD environment, aiming to improve process control and optimization in industrial settings. Accurate temperature estimation leads to increased productivity, reduce energy consumption, and reduced production costs. This is done by integrating computational fluid dynamics (CFD) with an artificial neural network (ANN) which is an artificial intelligence (AI) based model for an induction furnace. The study encompasses the following key aspects:

- Exploring and analyzing historical temperature data and CFD simulation outputs to develop a data-driven AI model capable of predicting temperature distributions inside the furnace.
- Investigating methods to seamlessly integrate the AI-based predictive model with CFD simulations, thereby enhancing computational efficiency and enabling real-time predictions.
- Assessing the model's ability to adapt to variations in operating conditions, furnace geometries, and steel compositions to ensure generalizability across different industrial scenarios.

1.5. Thesis Outline

The introduction is given in chapter 1. The literature review on artificial intelligence and machine learning along with its applications in CFD is given in chapter 2. A review on previously held researches of temperature prediction in induction furnace is also addressed in chapter 2. Proposed researched methodology is depicted in chapter 3. The model development and its necessary conditions in CFD are described in chapter 4. Chapter 5

illustrates the selection and generation of ANN Model. Results and discussions are made on the overall thesis in chapter 6 followed by conclusions and future recommendation in chapter 7. Lastly, references are shown in chapter 8. The methodology of overall thesis is shown in Figure 1.



Figure 1: Schematic Methodology of Thesis

Chapter 2

Literature Review

2.1. Introduction to Artificial Intelligence and Machine Learning

Artificial Intelligence (AI) and Machine Learning (ML) are transformative technologies that have revolutionized various industries and are driving innovation in the modern world. AI refers to the development of computer systems that can perform tasks that typically require human intelligence, such as understanding natural language, recognizing patterns, and making decisions. On the other hand, ML is a subset of AI that focuses on designing algorithms and models that enable computers to learn and improve from experience without being explicitly programmed.

AI has its roots in the 1950s, with pioneers like Alan Turing laying the groundwork for the field [27]. Since then, AI has evolved dramatically, driven by advancements in computing power, data availability, and algorithmic breakthroughs. Today, AI systems are integrated into everyday life, from voice assistants on smartphones to recommendation engines on streaming platforms.

Machine Learning, as a key component of AI, is based on the idea that machines can learn from data to improve their performance on a specific task. ML algorithms analyze vast amounts of data, recognize patterns, and make predictions or decisions based on the learned patterns. This data-driven approach has proven incredibly effective in diverse applications including chemical industries. The machine learning is primarily divided into [28]:

2.1.1. Supervised Learning (SL)

In this approach, the ML model is trained on labeled data, meaning the input data is paired with corresponding target outputs. The model learns to map inputs to outputs based on this labeled dataset, enabling it to make predictions on new, unseen data. SL is further categorized into classification and regression problems. The popular algorithms involved in SL are neural networks, linear/logistic regressions, decision tree, random forest etc. It is frequently used in predictive modelling. The steps of supervised learning are shown in Figure 2.



Figure 2: Supervised Learning

2.1.2. Unsupervised Learning (UL)

In unsupervised learning, the ML model works with unlabeled data, seeking to identify patterns and structures within the data without explicit guidance. Clustering and dimensionality reduction are common applications of unsupervised learning. The popular algorithms involved in UL are k-means clustering and association rule. It is commonly used in descriptive modelling. The steps of unsupervised learning are shown in Figure 3.



Figure 3: Unsupervised Learning

The rapid growth of AI and ML is fueled by the availability of big data, powerful computing resources, and open-source tools. Researchers and developers continuously push the boundaries of what AI can achieve, leading to groundbreaking applications that shape industries and human interaction with technology.

2.2. Applications of AI in Computational Fluid Dynamics (CFD)

CFD is a useful tool that makes precise predictions possible by numerically computing the Naiver-Stokes (N-S) equations. CFD has been extensively and consistently used over the years to simulate turbulent airflow, heat transfer and contaminant transport, as well as to simulate wind flow around buildings and track pollutants [29-31]. CFD still faces numerous obstacles, primarily in terms of accuracy and computational cost. The N-S equations must be numerically solved with space and time discretization in cases of realistic turbulent flow fields because analytical solutions are not possible. The direct numerical simulation (DNS) strategy is used to fully depict the flow phenomena [32].

While efforts are being made to enhance CFD techniques themselves with new turbulence models and algorithms, there has recently been interest in using new tools to support CFD simulation for increased accuracy [32, 33]. Artificial intelligence and data-driven models are gaining a lot of attention in a variety of applications thanks to digitization and the availability of large amounts of data. More specifically, deep learning and artificial neural networks (ANNs) have a lot to offer in terms of handling high-dimensional fields, universal non-linear approximation, and computational affordability.



Figure 4: Integration of CFD and AI Based on Model Selection [34]

Figure 4 depicts the steps in the CFD simulation process, each of which has the potential to produce a significant amount of discretized equations and data. Four different types of models could be created by fusing these equations or data with AI algorithms namely [34]:

2.2.1. Mathematical Model

AI algorithms are typically used in mathematical models to solve the governing equations and optimize their numerical solutions, such as optimizing ordinary differential equation (ODE) by deep neural networks (DNN's). This kind of model is intended to look for more precise numerical answers to the equations and could significantly increase the accuracy of the results.

2.2.2. Grid Optimization Model

This model significantly decreases computation time. AI is incorporated in order to generate the domain grid or optimize the local grid more sensibly and effectively.

2.2.3. Physical Model

The physical model is used to assess the flow data and CFD modelling through the conjunction of machine learning (ML) and a CFD solver. By enhancing and modifying the parameters of the base model, physical model provides realistic calculations. As a result, a hybrid model that incorporates both data and physical mechanisms is produced.

2.2.4. Data Driven Model

Lastly, data driven models are frequently employed to predict results or verify the accuracy of a new model because it can build databases and evaluate the input-output relationships or data patterns.

In order to gain insight on actual working of AI and CFD together, let's take heat transfer as an example. In nature, daily life, and industry, heat transfer occurs frequently. In fields like energy, metallurgy, machinery, chemical engineering, and others, it has always been significant. Recent years have seen the emergence of numerous interdisciplinary fields, including multiphase heat transfer which is involved in the modelling of induction furnace in this thesis. The two most popular ways to study heat transfer are experiments and CFD calculations [35-37]. When there are too many experimental variables, the cost is high and the number of usable samples is constrained especially for non-linear partial differential equations (PDEs). In addition, it is challenging to calculate problems in the absence of obvious physical mechanisms. As a result, using AI to solve these issues has become very famous.

AI is used to produce various models based on the data obtained from experiments and calculations [38, 39]. Supervised learning (SL) is opted as a suitable method due to the physical relationship between the sample labels in the data set. Among the various SL algorithms, ANN is the most widely used and has been successfully applied in numerous works [40, 41]. As shown in Figure 5, three common techniques were used to train an ANN model: gradient descent, Newton's method, and Levenberg-Marquardt. The gradient descent is the least memory-intensive and slowest of them all. Levenberg-Marquardt is the quickest but uses the most memory, whereas Newton's method could effectively

balance the two demands. The Leven-berg-Marquardt method could meet the demand for high precision because the parameter numbers in training data are restricted to < 100 in the case of heat transfer. Newton's method is appropriate for situations with greater than 100 parameters and a sizable amount of data. In general, gradient descent is not very common. Physical models, hybrid models, and data-driven models are typically classified according to the size of the data set [34].

The hybrid model falls between the physical model and the data-driven model in terms of database size requirements. Temperature, Reynolds number, and a few environmental factors could all be input parameters for these three models, whereas the output parameters comprises heat transfer coefficient, thermal efficiency, temperature differential, and heat load.



Figure 5: Application of AI in CFD Based on Heat Transfer [34]

In conclusion, the integration of AI with CFD has opened up new avenues for innovation and efficiency improvement in various engineering applications. In the context of predicting molten steel temperature in an induction furnace, AI-based CFD simulations offer accurate and efficient solutions, leading to enhanced process control, energy savings, and improved product quality. AI-driven CFD optimization can help identify the optimal furnace geometry, coil arrangement, and operating parameters to ensure precise temperature control and energy efficiency. CFD simulations are inherently influenced by uncertainties in boundary conditions, model parameters, and other inputs. AI methods, such as Bayesian inference and Monte Carlo simulations, can be applied to quantify these uncertainties and assess the reliability of CFD predictions. As AI technologies continue to advance, their synergistic relationship with CFD is likely to lead to further breakthroughs in the field of fluid dynamics and beyond.

2.3. Previous Studies on Molten Steel Temperature Prediction

The prediction of molten steel temperature in an induction furnace is a critical aspect of the steelmaking process, as it directly impacts the quality of the final product and the overall energy efficiency of the system. Over the years, researchers and engineers have extensively investigated various approaches to accurately forecast molten steel temperatures during the steelmaking process. This section provides an overview of some notable previous studies on molten steel temperature prediction, highlighting the methodologies and findings. Early attempts at predicting molten steel temperature often relied on empirical models based on experimental data. These models attempted to establish correlations between process parameters, such as power input, coil frequency, and charge material, and the resulting molten steel temperature. While these empirical models were simple to implement and provided some insights, their accuracy was limited due to the highly complex and non-linear nature of the induction heating process.

With the advancement of numerical methods, the Finite Element Method (FEM) gained popularity for simulating the induction heating process in induction furnaces. FEM enabled researchers to model the complex geometries of furnaces and account for the interactions between the magnetic field, heat transfer, and fluid flow. Using FEM, eddy current problem has been previously addressed. Considering if the current density, expressed in cylindrical coordinates, contains only an azimuthal component, the threedimensional problem can be limited to a two-dimensional one on a meridional section by taking advantage of the cylindrical symmetry. They provided a mixed formulation in the proper weighted Sobolev spaces. By examining an equivalent weak formulation, the solution's existence and originality were demonstrated [42].

In order to estimate the temperature of the liquid steel inside the induction furnace, work has been done to measure temperature indirectly by determining the amount of energy put into the furnace, flow rate of cooling water, and the temperature at the outer wall lining of the induction furnace. The method for estimating temperature relies on taking into account the furnace's heat balance equation and using a number of parameters for the furnace throughout the process to estimate the furnace's heat losses. From this method, an estimate of temperature of molten steel can be done [43].

CFD emerged as a powerful tool for simulating fluid flow, heat transfer, and electromagnetic fields in induction furnaces. CFD simulations allowed for a detailed analysis of the complex physical phenomena involved in the steel melting process. Such that a study on thermal behavior of induction furnace has been carried out resulting favorable condition for copper melting by studying temperature distribution in the crucible. Their study revealed that copper-liner is used for prevention of heating of vessels by electromagnetic effect between coil and the vessel [44]. Further finite element method has been used for transient heat transfer analysis of induction furnace for suggesting an optimized heat transfer. The study also led to the analysis of ramming mass in the melting process and how its thickness and conductivity effects the melting rate. Lastly, composite walls are studied for furnace efficiency enhancement [24, 45].

The main aim of study targets melting of metal thus, temperature distribution in the melted charge due to which proper understanding on design and construction of induction furnace is required. A researcher used equivalent circuit and superposition method for this analysis [46]. Another used FEM approach to study performance during heating so that the

capability of coil current and frequency to attain precise temperature may be studied [47]. The pinch effect also effects the molten steel produced by the electromagnetic force, which is directed toward the channel's center. It is observed that due to the skin and proximity effect, the electromagnetic force and joule heating are higher in the regions close to the induction coil. Thus, when molten steel flows through the channels, spiral recirculation would happen. Following its movement through the channels, the molten steel rises due to buoyancy. By using joule heating, it is possible to effectively make up for the heat loss of molten steel, and induction heating improves the uniformity of temperature [48].

Many researchers have done mathematical modelling to study induction heating phenomena by simplifying geometry of induction furnace to two-dimensional geometry. One study may target effect of electromagnetic power induced in crucible on heat transfer [49]. The other aims for investigation of operating conditions to enhance evaporation process claiming that molten steel temperature plays a vital role in influencing evaporation rate [50]. Another shifts its focus towards studying effect of frequency on molten steel thus, finding the most fitted inductor profile [51]. A few others targeted eddy current problem to solve non-linear heat transfer involving phase change [52].

Different papers used multiple styles of validation. Some built a laboratory scale induction furnace to experimentally study the results and compare them with numerical results [53]. Others compared temperature distribution obtained numerically with the macro etched section of solidified ingots. The comparison depicted that the dendritic grain structures obeyed the same direction as thermal flow which concluded that a uniform thermal field can be achieved by proper set of coils consequently, uniformity in ingots composition [54]. Another verified by comparison of three types of analysis including numerical, analytical and experimental. In this study, heat transfer in time dependent domain and radial temperature distribution of induction furnace for aluminum cylindrical disc was evaluated. The results illustrated that experimental and numerical methods gave a slope for temperature distribution lower than the analytical method with an error rate of 7% [55]. Another researcher hence, briefly explained the coupling of analytical and numerical

method for model validation. He further used his developed technique for optimizing the induction heating and energy efficiency [56].

Induction furnaces are famous for melting of metals with no fuel requirement. Although, melting under thermal fatigue is an issue hence, a study has been done on estimating temperature and thermal stress distribution at refractory wall by ANSYS. The results of which were interpreted in S-log N curve [57]. Similarly, controlling temperature is another hindrance along with temperature distribution that significantly effects efficiency of the furnace. A PID control algorithm is devised to cater the controlling problem and its employment results illustrated that temperature control system is responsible for overshoot, response time and stability of the system [58].

The mock-ups of induction furnaces are made in COMSOL to study electromagnetic, hydrodynamic and thermal behavior and effects of various parameters on charge melting, temperature distribution and efficiency of the furnace are evaluated [44]. Moreover, case studies on quality of non-linear solutions has been made revealing that current iteration errors during time integration may not be accurate. Therefore, such studies suggested that fundamental balances (energy and material) and required smoothing at boundary should be used as additional parameters for quality assessment [59].

Recognizing the strengths and limitations of different approaches, researchers began developing hybrid models that combined empirical data, FEM, and CFD simulations. These hybrid models aimed to leverage the advantages of each technique to enhance the accuracy of temperature predictions. For instance, researchers integrated AI-based algorithms, such as neural networks, with CFD simulations to improve the accuracy of molten steel temperature forecasts. These hybrid models showed promising results and offered a good compromise between accuracy and computational efficiency. Such that reliable predictions have been made for end point temperature predictions using RBF neural network [60].

In conclusion, previous studies on molten steel temperature prediction have evolved significantly over the years, from simple empirical models to sophisticated AI-driven approaches. While early models provided valuable insights, the integration of advanced numerical methods, like CFD and FEM, significantly improved the understanding of the underlying physics. The latest machine learning and AI-based models have shown tremendous promise in accurately forecasting molten steel temperatures, making them crucial tools for enhancing steelmaking processes in induction furnaces. However, there is still room for further research and development, especially in optimizing the computational efficiency of AI-driven models without compromising their accuracy.

2.4. Comparison of Different AI Techniques for Temperature Prediction

The accurate prediction of molten steel temperature in an induction furnace is crucial for ensuring product quality and optimizing the steelmaking process. As Artificial Intelligence (AI) continues to advance, various AI techniques have been explored to improve temperature predictions in this domain. A comprehensive comparison of different AI techniques used for molten steel temperature prediction in an induction furnace, highlighting their strengths, limitations, and potential applications is given below.

2.4.1. Neural Networks

Neural networks, particularly Deep Learning architectures, have gained significant popularity for temperature prediction tasks due to their ability to learn complex relationships from large datasets. Convolutional neural networks (CNN) are well-suited for capturing spatial correlations in the temperature field within the induction furnace, while recurrent neural networks (RNN) can effectively model temporal dependencies in time-series data, making them useful for capturing dynamic changes in temperature over time. The back propagation (BP) neural networks are feedforward networks with multiple layers. They have high tolerance for distorted information and can effectively forecast molten steel temperature. The BP algorithm uses three layers architecture involving input layer, hidden layer and output layer. The input layers consist of the factors influencing

steel temperature and the output layer comprises the end-point molten steel temperature under set operating conditions [61-63].

2.4.2. Support Vector Machines (SVM)

SVM is a popular supervised learning algorithm used for regression and classification tasks. SVM attempts to find the optimal hyperplane that best separates data points into different classes. In SVM regression, the basic concept is to draw patterns for a high-dimensional space by non-linear mapping and the perform linear regression in the concerned region. In the context of temperature prediction, SVM can be used to establish relationships between process parameters and molten steel temperature [64].

2.4.3. Random Forest

Random Forest (RF) is an ensemble learning technique that constructs multiple decision trees and combines their predictions to achieve a more accurate and stable result. The first algorithm for RF and its extension was proposed by [65, 66]. Random Forest can handle a mix of categorical and numerical features, making it versatile for temperature prediction tasks that involve diverse types of input data. RF feature importance analysis, aiding in understanding the influential process parameters on temperature.

2.4.4. Multivariate Adaptive Regression Splines

MARS (Multivariate Adaptive Regression Splines) is a regression technique that has been applied successfully in various prediction tasks, including temperature prediction. MARS is particularly useful when dealing with complex and non-linear relationships between input variables and the target variable, making it a potential candidate for molten steel temperature prediction in an induction furnace. This method was given by [67]. MARS builds a regression model using basis functions and splines. The model represents the relationship between the input variables (process parameters, furnace conditions, etc.) and the output variable (molten steel temperature) using a series of piecewise linear segments, known as splines. These splines connect specific regions of the input space, and the coefficients of these splines are learned during the model training process [68].

2.4.5. k-Nearest Neighbors

KNN is a non-parametric algorithm that makes predictions based on the similarity of data points in the feature space. It was first proposed by [69]. To apply KNN, historical data of the induction furnace operation is collected, including various process parameters (e.g., power input, stirring speed, coil frequency) and the corresponding molten steel temperatures. This dataset will serve as the training data for the KNN algorithm [70]. The parameter 'k' in KNN represents the number of nearest neighbors to consider when making a prediction. The value of 'k' affects the model's performance, and it is essential to choose an appropriate value through hyperparameter tuning.

Each AI technique has its unique strengths and limitations, making them suitable for different scenarios and applications in molten steel temperature prediction for an induction furnace. Neural networks excel in handling complex and high-dimensional data, Support Vector Machines are effective with smaller datasets and known process parameters, while Random Forest is versatile in handling diverse input data types. Depending on the specific requirements of the steelmaking process, the choice of AI technique should be carefully considered to achieve the most accurate and efficient temperature predictions [71]. A comparison of strengths and limitations of above-mentioned machine learning algorithms is shown in Table. Additionally, hybrid models that combine the strengths of multiple AI techniques may further enhance the overall predictive performance for this critical application.
Method	Strengths	Limitations	Potential Applications
Neural	Excellent at handling complex,	Requires a large training dataset.	Neural networks are ideal for real-time
Networks	high-dimensional data.	Prone to overfitting, especially with limited training	temperature prediction tasks, where accuracy
(NNs)	Can learn non-linear	data.	and responsiveness are critical, such as in
	relationships and patterns in	High computational and memory requirements.	process control and automation systems for
	the data.	Depends on training function	induction furnaces.
Support	Effective in handling small to	May struggle with non-linear relationships.	SVM can be valuable for predicting temperature
Vector	medium-sized datasets.	Depends on kernel selection.	based on known process parameters and
Machines	Robust against overfitting due	Limited ability to capture temporal or sequential	historical data, making it useful for process
(SVM)	to its structural risk	patterns.	optimization and parameter tuning in induction
	minimization principle.		furnace operations.
	Reduced generalization error.		
Random	Provides feature importance	Slow performance.	RF used in temperature prediction where feature
Forest (RF)	analysis, aiding in	A complete change in model is observed over small	importance analysis is essential for process
	understanding the influential	change in training dataset	optimization.
	process parameters.		

	Efficient for regression and			
	classification problems.			
Multivariate	Automatic detection of	Not robust to overfitting.	MARS make it easier to interpret the	
Adaptive	variables relationship.	Complex algorithm.	relationship between input variables and the	
Regression	Suitable for multiple target	Not fit for noise and non-linear datasets.	predicted molten steel temperature. The model	
Splines	variable.		can identify the most influential process	
(MARS)			parameters and indicate the regions of the input	
			space where their effects are significant.	
k-Nearest	A good choice for quick	KNN requires calculating distances between the	KNN can help predict molten steel temperature	
Neighbors	prototyping and baseline	new data point and all data points in the training set,	based on historical data of induction furnace	
(KNN)	modeling.	making it computationally intensive for large	operation like power input, coil frequency or	
	Easy interpretation.	datasets.	current in coils etc.	
	Space issues are improved by	Sensitive to noisy data.		
	spatial trees.	Determining of optimal k is crucial factor in		
		accuracy of results.		

2.5. Gap Analysis and Research Opportunities

Previously studies have addressed the electromagnetic, hydrodynamic and thermal behavior in induction furnace separately. The modelling on coupling of aforementioned physics is limited. Even if the coupling procedure is followed, little attention is given to molten steel temperature prediction in induction furnace. The accurate temperature distribution is a complex task comprising of Multiphysics and is subjected to dynamic and real-time variations due to fluctuating process conditions. The temperature distribution plays crucial role in product quality, energy consumption and overall efficiency thus, this gap is analyzed in this thesis.

Research opportunities exist in developing AI models that can continuously learn and adapt to the changing operating conditions of the induction furnace in real-time. Combining AI techniques with CFD-based optimization could lead to efficient control strategies and energy-saving measures for the induction furnace. Such hybrid approaches would enable the AI model to optimize furnace parameters while considering the complex fluid dynamics and heat transfer phenomena within the furnace. Research can be undertaken to enhance the interpretability of AI-driven temperature prediction models. Explaining the AI models' decisions and providing insights into the factors influencing temperature predictions could increase their acceptance and adoption in real-world industrial settings.

Chapter 3

Research Methodology

3.1. Overview of Induction Furnace and CFD Modeling

3.1.1 Induction Furnace

The foundation of electromagnetic induction was laid by Michael Faraday in 1831 through an experiment conducted on his famous induction ring [72]. The first induction furnace was invented by Colby with a desire to melt platinum in non-carbonaceous environment however, this furnace could not be of commercial use. Later De Ferranti, using the same principle as Colby gave an induction furnace design in which he placed primary coils outside the secondary circuit that caused high level of magnetic leakage [73]. However, they both gave an incredible furnace design from a theoretical standpoint of a high efficiency furnace in which the metal charge can be under perfect temperature control. A few years later, Kjellin gave the first practical induction furnace design [74]. He placed primary coils within the secondary thereby, reducing magnetic leakage de. Since then, many improvements have been made in order to achieve currently practiced induction furnaces [75].

Furnace is basically a type of direct fired heat exchanger in which a heat source increases the temperature of the feed to a high degree. Induction furnace is a type of furnace in which heat source is electricity thus also known as electric furnace. The advantage of such a furnace is that it is a clean, energy efficient and easily controllable melting process in comparison to other metal melting methods. Induction furnaces are thus ideally used for melting and alloying of metals giving lowest melt losses possible [17].

The working principle of induction furnace is induction heating. Induction heating is gaining an upper hand over other conventional heating techniques such as flame, resistance heating or ovens. It is a non-contact, quick and efficient heating method. Lately,

induction heating is being preferably used for industrial, medical and domestic purposes [18, 19]. The working phenomena involves an ac source that delivers alternating voltage to an induction heating coil. The coil produces alternating magnetic field. The charge (feed metal to be melted) is placed inside the coil. As a result of magnetic field, the charge heats up because of either electromagnetic induction or joule's effect [21].

The joule's effect is the main heating mechanism in induction heating caused by opposition of eddy currents to magnetic field generated in the induction charge. Whereas, in electromagnetic induction, an alternating current is induced on placing the loop in an alternating magnetic field. The moment loop is short-circuited, the voltage causes the current to flow in a direction such that it opposes the change that caused it – Faraday's Lenz Law [22, 23].

Currently, induction heating technologies are rapidly evolving towards being highly reliable and efficient systems. The major pros of induction furnaces include [76]:

Rapid Heating: Due to high power densities, time taken to heat the load is prominently reduced and less heat is wasted in comparison to other techniques.

Efficient Working: High temperatures can be attained as only the induction target is to be heating thus minimizing heat losses to the surrounding hence the overall efficiency increases up to 90%.

Controlled Heating: Through the accurate design of coils, the heating location can be controlled thus, advanced techniques such as local heating and temperature profile can be applied to induction furnaces.

Safe and Environmentally Friendly: Induction furnace are known as clean and green furnaces as only the target heats up and the surrounding material remains intact due to lower temperature in other regions. They also don't emit burnt fossil fuels hence, keeping the environment clean.

3.1.2. Computational Fluid Dynamics (CFD) Modelling

Numerical modelling is the fundamental reason of current advancement in induction heating processes. The current production demand does not allow trial and error in process design. Computational simulations can help access a problem in the process which is experimentally expensive, time consuming and probably impractical. Computer simulations help improvise and develop new techniques or processes and making them efficient in nature. Any new model can be developed from simple to complex numerical analysis. The main key is to select the appropriate theoretical model that perfectly fits the process to be modelled [22]. Uncertainty analysis can be done through numerical simulations and thus effects of different process parameters may be studied to increase the overall efficiency of the equipment or plant and reducing utilities consumption, heat losses and material wearing etc.

Process safety has always been a major concern hence, basic mechanisms are studied carefully and a number of experiments on laboratory scale are conducted before developing a commercial scale process still a bridge remains in safety which is covered by CFD tools [77]. These tools gain deeper understanding of the concerned physics of a process and suggest improvements making it more feasible, safe and environment friendly [78]. Simulations involving computational fluid dynamics (CFD) codes can give detailed information about heat transfer, mass transfer and fluid flow inside a processing equipment [79]. The numerical modelling of physics involved in this thesis is given below.

3.1.2.1.Mathematic Modelling of Electromagnetic Field

A brief overview of solving electromagnetic field in computational fluid dynamics environment involves solution of Maxwell's set of equations [80, 81].

Ampere's Law:	$\nabla \times H = J + \frac{\partial D}{\partial t}$	3.1
Faraday's Law:	$\nabla \times E = -\frac{\partial B}{\partial t}$	3.2
Gauss' Law:	$\nabla \cdot B = 0$	3.3

Gauss' Law: $\nabla \cdot \mathbf{D} = \rho^{charge}$ 3.4

Where E is the electric field, D is electric flux density, H is magnetic flux intensity, B is magnetic flux density, J is conduction current density and ρ^{charge} is electric charge density.

Maxwell equations is in complete correspondence with Maxwell laws of magnetism. The Equation 3.1 states that a magnetic field is always produced when there is a current flowing in the nearby surrounding. The equation shows that the curl of H is dependent upon two sources at a time i.e. conduction current density 'J' and electric charge density ' $_0^{charge'}$.

The Equation 3.2 states that differential of magnetic flux density B always generates divergence in electric field E and induces current in nearby region. Whereas, the negative sign shows the direction of induced electric field.

The electromagnetic physics for induction heating inside an induction furnace can be explained by Equations 3.1 and 3.2. The alternating current is produced in the coils because of the influence of alternating voltage. The produced alternating current gives rise to alternating magnetic field having same frequency as the current in coils. The geometry of the coil, current inside coils, coupling of coil and workpiece greatly effects the strength of magnetic field. The magnetic field then generates eddy currents in the inductor. These eddy currents produce their own magnetic field in an opposite direction to the source magnetic field. In short, total magnetic field is a sum of source and induced magnetic fields inside an induction furnace.

Furthermore, the Equation 3.3 illustrates that divergence of magnetic flux density B is null which means that there is no source or sink from where magnetic fields lines generate leaving behind a perception that these lines are always in a continuous loop.

3.1.2.2.Mathematic Modelling of Heat Transfer

Generally, thermal process is dealt in time dependent domain and can be simply expressed by Fourier equation 3.5.

$$c\rho \frac{\partial T}{\partial t} + \nabla \cdot (-k\nabla T) = Q \qquad \qquad 3.5$$

Where T is temperature, ρ is metal's density, c is specific heat, k is thermal conductivity and Q is the heat generated. The heat source density due to rate of induced eddy currents is acquired by the solution of electromagnetic field. The above Equation 2.5 illustrated temperature distribution inside the induction furnace at any point across the geometry at any time under the influence of initial and boundary conditions.

The initial conditions are usually set to ambient cause they represent conditions at t=0 if not linked to any previous process whereas, the boundary conditions are responsible for thermal losses due to convection and radiation. For a symmetric geometry, Neuman boundary condition is applied at the axis. The Neuman boundary conditions states that no heat exchange occurs at the axis and is thus used for a properly insulated workpiece.

$$\frac{\partial T}{\partial n} = 0 \tag{3.6}$$

3.1.2.3.Finite Element Method

To get effective computational results, numerical methods like finite difference, finite volume, mutual impedance, finite element or boundary element methods are used. Each method has its pros and can be used as a stand alone or in combination with another. FEM gives element wise approximations of the governing equations. The area under study is further broken down into non-overlapping subareas thus minimizing energy at each node of each element. Most paper has referred FEM as a suitable method for electromagnetic applications due to its flexible geometry [82]. Space discretization is another significant aspect of FEM. The accuracy of the numerical method depends on careful meshing in the regions where the influence of rate of change of the unknown is huge. FEM solves

electromagnetic problem along with temperature profiling across the geometry with respect to magnetic vector potential [83, 84].

3.2. Data Collection and Preprocessing

Data collection and preprocessing are crucial steps such as obtaining high-quality data and preparing it in a suitable format are essential for training and validating the ANN model effectively. Here's an outline of the data collection and preprocessing steps:

3.2.1. Data Collection

The data is firstly gathered from CFD simulations that is COMSOL modelling of the induction furnace. The CFD simulations should include information about the geometry, furnace dimensions, time, and temperature distribution inside the furnace during the steelmaking process. Ensure that the simulation data covers a wide range of operating conditions and scenarios to create a representative dataset. Secondly, the obtained detailed information about the induction furnace's physical dimensions, including its length, width, height, and other relevant geometry parameters. These parameters play a significant role in determining the temperature distribution inside the furnace and were validated with literature [85]. Record the simulation data with timestamps to capture the time-dependent behavior of temperature changes during the steelmaking process. The time-stamped data allows the model to consider temporal patterns and dynamics.

3.2.2. Data Preprocessing

First and foremost, check the CFD simulation data for missing values, outliers, and any inconsistencies. Handle missing values through imputation techniques, and remove or correct any outliers that could adversely affect the model's performance followed by combining the CFD simulation data with the corresponding furnace geometry and dimensions data ensuring that the timestamps align correctly with the corresponding temperature readings. After that scaling is done for the temperature and other numerical features to a common range. The last task in preprocessing is to divide the data into

training and validation sets. The training set is used to train the ANN model, while the validation set is used to evaluate its performance and generalization capabilities.

By carefully collecting and preprocessing the CFD simulation data along with furnace geometry, dimensions, and time-stamped information, the dataset is prepared for training the ANN model to predict molten steel temperatures accurately. Proper data handling and preprocessing steps are essential to ensure the success of the thesis and the development of a robust and reliable temperature prediction model for induction furnaces.

3.3. Feature Selection and Engineering

The effective feature selection and engineering are crucial steps to improve the accuracy and generalization capability of the ANN model for predicting molten steel temperatures. Given the complex nature of the steelmaking process and the diversity of parameters involved, careful feature selection and engineering can significantly enhance the model's performance. By carefully choosing relevant features and crafting new informative ones, the model can effectively capture the intricate relationships between process parameters and temperature variations. The combined impact of feature selection and engineering will lead to a more interpretable, efficient, and reliable AI solution for temperature prediction, enhancing the steelmaking process's quality and efficiency. The selected features for ANN model are dimensions from width and height of furnace geometry moving across x-axis and y-axis at every minute for the total run time. So, time is another feature used as input variable whereas, temperature is the only output variable at the specified input features.

3.4. AI Model Selection and Justification

Molten steel temperature prediction in an induction furnace is a challenging task due to the dynamic and non-linear nature of the process. Accurate temperature prediction is essential for controlling the steelmaking process and avoiding defects in the final product. CFD simulations provide detailed insights into the flow and heat transfer phenomena inside the furnace, and integrating AI models can enhance the accuracy and efficiency of temperature predictions. In this work, ANN is selected as the AI model for its proven capabilities in handling complex non-linear relationships and its success in various predictive modeling tasks [86-88]. A few justifications for choosing ANN as the AI model for temperature prediction are:

3.4.1. Non-Linear Relationship

ANN excels at capturing complex non-linear relationships between input and output variables. In the context of molten steel temperature prediction, the temperature variations are affected by a multitude of factors, including induction power, geometry, material properties, and time. ANN's ability to approximate non-linear functions makes it well-suited for capturing these intricate dependencies.

3.4.2. Universal Function Approximator

The universal function approximation theorem states that a neural network with a sufficient number of neurons in its hidden layers can approximate any continuous function to arbitrary precision. Given the diverse and often unknown dynamics of induction furnace behavior, the flexibility of ANN to approximate complex functions is a significant advantage.

3.4.3. Feature Extraction and Engineering

ANN can effectively learn and extract relevant features from the input data during the training process. As predicting molten steel temperature relies on a multitude of parameters from CFD simulations, feature engineering can be a time-consuming task. ANN's ability to perform automatic feature extraction alleviates this burden and can reveal hidden patterns in the data.

3.4.4. Handling Noisy Data

Real-world data can be noisy and contain uncertainties. ANN is robust to noisy data and can learn to generalize from imperfect training samples. This is particularly important in industrial applications where variations in operating conditions and measurement errors are common.

3.4.5. Parallel Processing

ANN computations can be efficiently parallelized, making it suitable for handling large datasets and speeding up the training process. This scalability is advantageous in dealing with the vast amounts of data typically encountered in CFD simulations.

The choice of ANN as the AI model for molten steel temperature prediction in an induction furnace is justified based on its ability to handle complex non-linear relationships, perform feature extraction, and tolerate noisy data. The synergy between CFD simulations and ANN will enable accurate and efficient temperature predictions, which can significantly benefit the steel industry by improving product quality and optimizing the steelmaking process. The development and validation of the ANN-based model in this thesis will contribute to the advancement of AI applications in industrial processes.

3.5. Model Training and Validation

The model training and validation process plays a pivotal role in ensuring the accuracy and reliability of the developed ANN model. Model training involves feeding the ANN with a carefully curated dataset comprising CFD simulation outputs and corresponding molten steel temperatures. The ANN learns the underlying patterns and relationships between the input parameters and the target variable through an iterative optimization process, typically using backpropagation. To avoid overfitting and to evaluate the generalization capability of the model, a comprehensive validation strategy is employed. The dataset is split into training and validation sets, with the former used for training the ANN and the latter for assessing its performance. Various metrics, such as Mean Absolute Error (MAE), Root Mean Square Error (RMSE), and R-squared, are computed to quantify the model's predictive accuracy. Additionally, techniques like k-fold cross-validation may be applied to obtain a more robust estimate of the model's performance. Through rigorous model training and validation, the thesis aims to demonstrate the ANN's capability to accurately predict molten steel temperatures in induction furnaces, thus contributing to enhanced process control and optimization in the steel industry. Further details on training and validation is given in Chapter 5.

3.6. Performance Metrics

The performance metrics used to evaluate the accuracy and effectiveness of the developed ANN model are crucial in assessing its predictive capabilities. Given the importance of precise temperature predictions in the steelmaking process, the following performance metrics are employed:

3.6.1. Mean Absolute Error (MAE)

The MAE is a commonly used metric that measures the average absolute difference between the predicted temperatures and the actual temperatures. It provides a straightforward indication of how well the model performs in terms of magnitude and direction, irrespective of positive or negative errors. A lower MAE indicates better accuracy, with zero implying a perfect prediction.

3.6.2. Root Mean Square Error (RMSE)

The RMSE is another widely used metric that measures the square root of the average of the squared differences between predicted and actual temperatures. RMSE penalizes larger errors more than MAE, making it sensitive to outliers. Like MAE, a lower RMSE value signifies better predictive performance.

3.6.3. R-squared (R²) or Coefficient of Determination

R-squared evaluates the proportion of variance in the dependent variable (molten steel temperatures) that is explained by the model. It ranges from 0 to 1, where 1 indicates that the model perfectly captures the variance in the target variable. R-squared helps to understand how well the model fits the data and how much of the variability in temperature predictions can be attributed to the input parameters.

3.6.4. Scatter Plots and Residual Analysis

Visual inspection of scatter plots of predicted versus actual temperatures can reveal patterns, trends, and potential nonlinearities in the model's performance. Residual analysis, which involves plotting the differences between predicted and actual temperatures, can help identify systematic errors and model shortcomings.

The selection of appropriate performance metrics is essential to comprehensively evaluate the ANN-based molten steel temperature prediction model. By analyzing and interpreting these metrics, the thesis can ascertain the model's accuracy, robustness, and suitability for real-world application in the steel industry. The use of multiple metrics provides a comprehensive understanding of the model's strengths and limitations, ensuring that the developed AI solution meets the industry's quality and efficiency requirements. The mathematical equations for all three performance parameters: R^2 , MSE and RMSE are shown below.

$$MSE = \frac{1}{Q'} \sum_{i=1}^{Q'} (Y_{i,pred} - Y_{i,CFD})^2$$
 3.7

$$RMSE = \sqrt{\frac{1}{Q'} \sum_{i=1}^{Q'} (Y_{i,pred} - Y_{i,CFD})^2}$$
 3.8

$$R^{2} = 1 - \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{Q'} (Y_{i,pred} - Y_{i,CFD})}{\sum_{i=1}^{Q'} (Y_{i,pred} - Y_{m})}$$
3.9

Where, Q['] shows number of data points, $Y_{i,CFD}$ is CFD modelling output, $Y_{i,pred}$ is predicted ANN network, Y_m is the average of the values and i refers to data points [89].

Chapter 4

Induction Furnace Simulation and Data Generation

4.1. CFD Simulation Setup and Parameters

The overall process of induction heating is intricate, involving various thermal, electromagnetic, and hydrodynamic phenomena [90, 91]. The coil generates magnetic field that in return induces current in the metal charge. Through the application of joule heating, these induced currents heat up and melt the charge. The electrical properties of the charge alter as the temperature rises, changing the magnitude of induced currents and charge's temperature gradient. The geometry varies on melting i.e. the electromagnetic forces drive the charge away from the wall. The induced currents as well as related electromagnetic forces alter again due to changed geometry. Once the material is completely melted, the electromagnetic forces develop a stirring effect in the molten liquid, homogenizing the temperature in consequence of flow motion [92, 93].

To determine temperature distribution in charge, the governing equations must consider coupled phenomena among electromagnetic behavior, heat transfer and fluid flow. The numerical modelling involves two steps, calculating electromagnetic heating in frequency domain and using the results as input data for hydrodynamics and phase change heat transfer.

4.1.1. Geometry and Discretization

An induction furnace is modelled as 2D axisymmetric by COMSOL Multiphysics version 6.1 for silicon purification [83]. The workpiece under consideration is made up of an insulation layer of alumina around graphite crucible containing silicon as charge to be melted. The solenoid is made up of copper coils. To make simulations easier, the thermal

model does not involve the coil [42, 83]. The geometrical sketch is shown in Figure 6 and its dimensions in Table 2.



Figure 6: Sketch of The Geometry

ID	Identification (ID) Type	Dimension
1.	Inner radius of the crucible	0.125 m
2.	Height of metal charge	0.45 m
3.	Width of crucible	0.05 m
4.	Width of insulation layer	0.05 m
5.	Outer radius of crucible	0.225 m
6.	Height of crucible	1.05 m
7.	Width of refractory wall	0.5 m
8.	Height of refractory wall	1.3 m
9.	Spacing between coil & crucible	0.025 m
10.	Spacing between coil turns	0.01 m
11.	Coil diameter	0.05 m
12.	Number of coils	12

Table 2: Dimensions of Geometry [85]

The geometry was meshed by the use of the quadrilateral and triangular elements with proper refinement in the areas near charge and coil where high gradients of eddy currents are expected. The triangular meshing was used for the charge, crucible, insulating layer and coil domains whereas, quadrilateral meshing was used for refractory wall as shown in Figure 7. The curvature factor for triangular meshes were kept at 0.2 while for quadrilateral meshes, 0.3 was opted. Further details for meshing are given in Table 3. The physical properties of the materials are temperature dependent whereas, electromagnetic parameter in the coil are assumed constant [85].

Mesh Statistics	Values
Number of Elements	31044
Elements Edge	1678
Elements Vertex	63
Mesh Vertices	20022
Triangular Elements	22373
Quadrilateral Elements	8672





Figure 7: Meshing Details of The Geometry

4.1.2. Electromagnetic Model

Electromagnetic field generated by induction coil is governed by Maxwell equations solved in COMSOL Multiphysics as:

$$(j\omega\sigma - \omega^2\epsilon_0\epsilon_r)A + \nabla \times (\mu_0^{-1}\mu_r^{-1}) = J_e$$

$$4.1$$

$$B = \nabla \times A \tag{4.2}$$

Where A is the magnetic vector potential, B is the magnetic flux density, j is the current density, J_e is the external current density, ω is the frequency, ϵ_0 is the free space reactive permittivity, ϵ_r is the relative permittivity, μ_0 is the free space magnetic permeability and μ_r is the relative permeability [82, 94].

The electromagnetic model holds for entire computational domain. The coil was modelled as homogenized multiturn having current supplied at 2000 A that passes through 12 turns with a working frequency of 1000 Hz [85].

For an industrial furnace, electromagnetic field should not spread outwards thus field guides are added [59]. Hence in simulation, magnetic insulation is used as boundary condition. This condition implies that normal component of the magnetic field should be zero.

$$n \times A = 0 \tag{4.3}$$

4.1.3. Thermal Model

For the examination of thermal effects on electromagnetic field, it must be combined with the heat equation. The radial section of the workpiece serves as computational domain for thermal model [95]. Primarily, the metal charge exists in solid form but gradually melting takes place changing its state hence heat transfer equation with phase change should be considered [96]. Moreover, convective heat transfer is also involved as the electromagnetic and buoyancy forces impacts on molten metal. COMSOL Multiphysics uses Fourier equation to solve thermal domain.

$$\rho C_p \frac{\partial T}{\partial t} + \rho C_p \nu \cdot \nabla T = \nabla \cdot (k \nabla T) + Q$$

$$4.4$$

Where T is absolute temperature, t is time, ρ is density, C_p is specific heat capacity, k is thermal conductivity, ν is velocity vector and Q is the heat source.

The initial temperature is set at 30°C. The surface to surface radiation is used for free surfaces. The surface to ambient condition is used for outer wall surfaces. Whereas, periodic heat condition is used for convective cooling at exterior boundaries [85].

4.1.4. Hydrodynamic Model

For the development of a model close to realistic simulation, fluid flow must be considered hence involving convective heat transfer. The hydrodynamic domain is the molten region of the charge. This region is governed by Naiver-Stokes equation along with flow rate conservation [97].

$$\rho \frac{\partial \nu}{\partial t} + \rho \nu \cdot \nabla \nu = -\nabla p + \nabla \cdot \left[\mu (\nabla \nu + (\nabla \nu)^T)\right] + F$$

$$4.5$$

$$\nabla \cdot (\rho \nu) = 0 \tag{4.6}$$

Where ρ is density, ν is velocity vector, p is pressure, μ is dynamic viscosity and F is volumetric force.

It must be noted that density and viscosity are material properties dependent upon temperature. Boussinesq approximation is used to model fluid flow as the molten region is not large enough. It basically simplifies the Naiver-Stokes equation by taking a reference temperature hence, constant values for density and viscosity are used. The periodic condition is employed at exterior boundaries and no slip condition at free surfaces [85].

4.2. Thermal Boundary Conditions

A set of boundary conditions for each of the three fields thermal, flow, and electromagnetic were taken into consideration. The magnetic vector potential of value zero was used on the electromagnetic sub-model boundaries, whereas continuity was applied at all interfaces [50]. For fluid flow, no slip condition was employed to the walls and a static pressure of 0 Pa was used for exit. The gradients of zero were used for flow and thermal fields to create an axis. In hydrodynamic domain, the Dirichlet boundary condition was specified i.e. velocity is zero. Lastly, the initial temperature was set at 30°C [85]. The summary of initial and boundary conditions is shown in Table 4.

Region	Boundary Condition			
	Electromagnetic	Flow	Thermal	
Axis	A = 0	$\nabla \nu = 0$	$\nabla T = 0$	
Air Outlet	-	$P_{\text{static}} = 0$	$\varepsilon_{rad} = 1$	
Free Surface	$A_L = A_R$	au = 0	$\varepsilon_{rad} = 0.2, T_L = T_R$	
Initial Condition	_	u = 0	$T = 30^{\circ}C$	

Table 4: Initial and Boundary Conditions [85]

4.3. Generation of Training and Testing Data

The temperature distribution across the furnace geometry was plotted as contour plots by COMSOL Multiphysics. The temperature distribution was further studied with 1D Plots in COMSOL. Data was exported from COMSOL to Excel at every point such that the temperature at each dimension from x and y axis at every minute for 150 minutes were taken under consideration. The dataset was generated in a way that by keeping x-dimension constant for 150 minutes and varying y-dimension, temperature was obtained. This was done for all x-dimensions across the geometry. The overall dataset includes x and y dimensions across furnace, time including every minute and its corresponding temperatures. The total dataset comprises of 153 inputs including x-dimensions, y-dimensions and time whereas, 151 outputs that is temperatures at 150 minutes. This gave 41

rise to 99909 datasets for input only having a matrix of 653 rows and 153 columns. Similarly, 98603 datasets for output is generated having a matrix of 653 rows and 151 columns. Hence, the total generated data consist of 198512 data samples including 653 rows and 304 columns.

The overall generated data is divided into training and testing datasets as 70% of data was extracted for training while the remaining 30% was equally divided for testing and validation. This was done using a MATLAB code which separated the data in the excel file with a command of keeping every fifth row for testing so that a linear relationship may be developed. In short, COMSOL was linked with Excel for data generation and then Excel was integrated with MATLAB for data division and further AI processing.

Chapter 5

Artificial Intelligence Model Architecture

5.1. Overview of the Chosen AI Model

The Artificial Intelligence (AI) model chosen for above dataset is Artificial Neural Network (ANN). The ANN has emerged as powerful tool for solving complex problems in various domains, including process engineering, computational fluid dynamics (CFD), and metallurgy. In this thesis, an ANN-based model is employed for the prediction of molten steel temperature in an induction furnace, which is simulated using COMSOL Multiphysics software.

ANNs are a subset of machine learning algorithms inspired by the biological neural networks of the human brain. They excel in pattern recognition, classification, regression, and prediction tasks, making them versatile tools for data-driven decision-making and predictive modeling. The networks consist of huge amounts of interconnected elements that all functions simultaneously to solve the targeted problem. These networks are able to solve complex functions including non-linear patterns among various factors.

The major advantage of ANN is its ability of learning an existing relationship directly from the data. The network needs to be trained once and then it can be applied on unknows datasets to predict outcomes. Unlike conventional numerical methods, ANN does not demand following of a specific algorithm. In fact, ANN learn by example and discovers a pattern itself in the provided dataset. The indomitable characteristics of ANN is its ability to perform even if the is indefinite, non-linear or distorted and still give plausible results.

The origins of artificial neural networks can be traced back to the 1950s and 1960s, with the work of Warren McCulloch and Walter Pitts, who introduced the concept of a mathematical model of a neuron [98]. Later, the Perceptron algorithm developed by Frank Rosenblatt in 1957 laid the groundwork for single-layer feedforward neural networks [99, 100].

5.1.1. Multilayer Perceptron (MLP)

Multilayer perceptron (MLP) comprises of various processing units named neurons that are placed in multiple layers. An artificial neuron is illustrated in Figure 8. The neurons are interlinked with each other such that a neuron in one layer connects to all neurons in the upcoming layer. These networks are called feed-forward network as the data information only flows in a single direction at a time [101].



Figure 8: Structure of an Artificial Neuron [101]

To develop a perfect MLP model, firstly, the number of layers viz. input, hidden and output should be selected. Secondly, the number of neurons in hidden layer must be agreed. Also, that in MLP modelling, it is mandatory to choose activation function, error criteria and learning method. Usually, the activation function in hidden and output layer is symmetric sigmoid and it is set to one hence, termed as bias. The bias is a neuron that is permanently set to 1 and it connects with other neurons by a weight known as threshold. This threshold is the deciding criterion if the neuron falls on the required conditions so that precision may be attained. Theoretical advancements by Marvin Minsky and Seymour Papert in 1969, however, revealed the limitations of single-layer perceptron in solving non-linearly separable problems, leading to the "AI Winter" [102].

In the context of molten steel temperature prediction, ANNs can effectively capture the non-linearities and dependencies between various input parameters and the temperature output. Such a network is considered the best type for temperature prediction for several compelling reasons:

Non-Linear Modeling: The process of heating molten steel in an induction furnace involves complex and non-linear relationships between input parameters (e.g., furnace geometry, time) and the output (temperature). ANNs excel at capturing these intricate non-linearities, enabling them to model the system accurately, something traditional linear regression models may struggle with.

Universal Approximators: ANNs have been proven to be universal function approximators, meaning they can approximate any continuous function to arbitrary accuracy with the right architecture and training. This property allows ANNs to handle a wide range of input data and learn complex mappings effectively, making them suitable for the diverse and dynamic nature of molten steel temperature prediction.

Feature Learning: One of the key advantages of ANNs is their ability to automatically learn relevant features from raw data. In the context of molten steel temperature prediction, ANNs can identify essential patterns and correlations within the input parameters, reducing the need for handcrafted features and simplifying the modeling process.

Adaptability: The process of steelmaking is subject to various uncertainties, fluctuations, and changes in operating conditions. ANNs are highly adaptable and can learn from new data, making them robust in handling variations and changes in the process environment. This adaptability is crucial for real-world applications where conditions may not always match the training data.

Scalability: ANN models can be scaled to accommodate large datasets and can handle high-dimensional input spaces efficiently. This is advantageous when dealing with complex CFD simulations and a wide array of input variables involved in the induction furnace process.

Generalization: A well-trained ANN model can generalize its predictions to unseen data effectively. This is particularly important in the context of CFD simulations where accurate predictions at different time steps or under varying conditions are required. ANNs

are capable of producing reliable predictions beyond the data points on which they were trained.

5.2. Model Architecture and Components

The architecture of an ANN refers to its overall structure and organization. An ANN is composed of several interconnected components that work together to process input data and produce output predictions. By adjusting the architecture and components of an ANN, researchers and engineers can build models tailored to specific tasks and datasets, making ANNs versatile and powerful tools in various fields of artificial intelligence and machine learning. Here are the main components and their roles in an ANN model:

5.2.1. Input Layer

The input layer is the first layer of the neural network and serves as the entry point for the input data. Each node (neuron) in the input layer corresponds to a feature or attribute of the input data. The number of nodes in the input layer is determined by the dimensionality of the input data.

5.2.2. Hidden Layers

Between the input and output layers, one or more hidden layers can exist in the ANN. Hidden layers are responsible for learning and representing complex patterns and relationships within the data. Each node in a hidden layer receives input from the previous layer and produces an output that is passed to the subsequent layer.

5.2.3. Neurons (Nodes)

Neurons are the fundamental processing units of an ANN. Each neuron takes a weighted sum of inputs from the previous layer and applies an activation function to produce an output. The activation function introduces non-linearity to the model, allowing the network to learn complex relationships in the data.

5.2.4. Weights and Biases

Weights and biases are learnable parameters in the neural network. Each connection between neurons is associated with a weight, which determines the strength of the connection. Biases are added to neurons to shift the output of the activation function. During the training process, the network learns the optimal values of weights and biases to minimize the prediction error.

5.2.5. Output Layer

The output layer is the final layer of the ANN, responsible for producing the model's predictions. The number of nodes in the output layer depends on the nature of the problem being solved. For regression tasks, there is typically one node in the output layer, whereas for classification tasks, the number of output nodes matches the number of classes.

In this study, ANN is used to predict temperature distribution along the furnace geometry. The input layer comprises of three variables (width, height, and time) and output layer of a single variable (temperature). Figure 9 shows the multilayer feed forward neural network architecture with multiple inputs and single output (MISO). Data consists of 99909 data sample from across the width and height of the furnace for the development of ANN model.



Figure 9: Architecture of Multiple Input and Single Output ANN (MISO)

The actual architecture of the neural network developed in MATLAB for data samples is shown in Figure 10. The architecture follows MISO structure having 153 inputs and its corresponding 151 outputs. The optimized neurons in hidden layer is set at 15.



Figure 10: Proposed Architecture ANN Model

5.3. Training Procedure

5.3.1. Back Propagation Algorithm

In the 1980s, the field experienced a resurgence with the development of the backpropagation algorithm, which allowed for efficient training of multi-layer neural networks. The works of Geoffrey Hinton, David Rumelhart, and Ronald Williams played a pivotal role in popularizing the backpropagation algorithm, enabling the training of deep neural networks [103].

A correct setting of weights in the network is not known in advance, so initially a random value is given to them. In order to update the weights to proper values, the BP is commonly applied [101, 104]. Such a process is called training or learning. The BP is a generalization of the least mean squared algorithm that modifies the weights to minimize the mean squared error (MSE) between the target value and the actual outputs in hidden and output layer of the network.

The error function, which not only assesses how closely the network's predictions match the targets but also has a significant impact on the performance of the training algorithms, must be used in order to complete the neural network training. The degree of weight correction applied by the training algorithm at each epoch is evaluated based on the error value. There are two error functions that neural networks frequently employ [105]. The sum of squared differences between the values obtained and expected for each neuron in the output layer constitutes the sum-squared error (SSE), which is primarily used in regression problems. Additionally, the target value and the constructed logarithm of the error value on each neuron present in the output layer are combined by the cross-entropy error (CEE) function.

5.3.2. Levenberg Marquardt Algorithm

The LMA is the nonlinear optimization algorithm that quickly adjusts weights in ANN. Unfortunately, it does have some important shortcomings. The first is that this algorithm can only be used to train networks that are relatively small in size and have a single output neuron. The second is that since SSE is the only error function that defines LMA, it is mainly a best fit only for regression analysis.

The algorithm is a combination of two well-known optimization techniques, the Gauss-Newton method and the method of gradient descent. The Gauss-Newton method is widely used for solving least squares problems, but it can be sensitive to initial parameter values and may not converge efficiently for ill-conditioned problems. On the other hand, the method of gradient descent is more stable but slower in convergence.

The Levenberg-Marquardt algorithm strikes a balance between these two methods by introducing a damping factor, denoted as λ (lambda), which controls the step size during the optimization process. The algorithm iteratively updates the parameter values in the direction of the steepest descent (gradient descent) when the damping factor is large and in the direction of the Gauss-Newton approximation when the damping factor is small. This adaptive damping factor allows the algorithm to efficiently converge to a local minimum in the least squares' optimization problem. Equation 4 represents the mathematical form of LMA algorithm:

$$\Delta w = -(J^T J + \lambda I)^{-1} J^T E$$
 5.1

where Δw is adaptation of weights, J is the partial derivatives matrix of case errors in connection with the weights, I denote the identity matrix, E is the vector of case errors, and λ is the damping factor [101].

The above algorithms are used for training the datasets generated by COMSOL where input parameters consist of width, height and time across the furnace geometry and targets that is outputs are corresponding predicted temperatures.

5.4. Hyperparameter Optimization

Hyperparameter Optimization refers to the process of finding the best combination of hyperparameters that yields the optimal performance of the neural network model for a given task. Hyperparameters are parameters that are set before the training process begins and determine the architecture and behavior of the neural network. Unlike the weights and biases of the model, which are learned during training, hyperparameters need to be set manually or through a search process. The goal is to strike a balance between overfitting (high variance) and underfitting (high bias) by selecting hyperparameters that generalize well to unseen data. Hyperparameter optimization is a critical step in building an effective neural network model as it directly influences the model's accuracy, convergence speed, and generalization capabilities. Careful optimization can lead to significant improvements in model performance and better utilization of computational resources.

The performance of an ANN model is evaluated on the basis of coefficient of determination (\mathbb{R}^2), mean square error (MSE) and root mean square error (RMSE) of the training and validating dataset. The network is stopped whenever the RMSE values becomes constant producing a single figure that displays the network's overall error.

Some common hyperparameters include number of hidden layers, number of neurons in hidden layer, learning rate, activation functions, batch size and number of training epochs. Hence, t is significant to optimize number of neurons in hidden layer so that over fitting or bad performance of neural network may be avoided to create an accurate ANN model. Therefore, number of neurons were optimized using hit and trial method between 1 and 20 to obtain minimum error functions. Levenberg-Marquart algorithm was used for the network. The results of which are shown in Table 5.

Sr.	Number of Neurons in	Training Set		Validation Set	
No.	Hidden Layer				
		MSE	R	MSE	R
1	3	595.2368	0.9980	447.2350	0.9985
2	6	96.1235	0.9996	68.3768	0.9997
3	9	107.4362	0.9996	69.4317	0.9997
4	12	26.1724	0.9999	43.8175	0.9998
5	15	12.5864	0.9999	14.1467	0.9999
6	20	18.8067	0.9999	21.8156	0.9999

Table 5: ANN Modelling Results Obtained from Different Number of Neurons

On the basis of regression (R) that measures the correlation between inputs and targets, coefficient of determination (R^2), mean square root (MSE) and root mean square error (RMSE), a suitable network i.e. hidden layer with 15 number of neurons is opted. Most precise results are obtained on lower values of MSE and RMSE whereas R^2 close to 1 is preferred [89].

Chapter 6

Results and Discussion

6.1. CFD Modelling and Validation

Numerical results for electromagnetic heating are shown in figure. The electromagnetic force is only at the outer regions of the molten metal and it is directed towards the axis. High frequency of 1000 Hz is used to model induction heating. The contour plot of temperature inside the induction furnace is shown in Figure 11. The 3D diagram of induction furnace along with temperature distribution is shown in Figure 12. The contour plot shows that the temperature inside the charge rises up to 1600°C. The minimum temperature inside the charge was observed at 1327°C while the maximum temperature was 1703°C. This shows that the silicon metal is highly heated. The temperature specifically increased in inner crucible where it contacts with the charge due to low thermal conductivity and emissivity.





Figure 11: Temperature Contour Plots of Induction Furnace



Figure 12: Three-Dimensional View of Induction Furnace

The comparison between COMSOL and literature results are shown in Table 6. In the literature, only the contour plot was shown so values are approximated from them. The literature followed was based on simulation of an industrial furnace and it showed agreement with experimental data. The comparison illustrates that the simulated results are confirming to literature data [85].

Layer	Temperature (°C)			
	Literature	Simulation	%Error	
Alumina Insulation	1200	1138.6	5.39	
Graphite Crucible	1500	1515.5	1.02	
Silicon Metal Charge	1600	1702.9	6.04	

 Table 6: Comparison of Modelling and Literature Results [85]

6.2. Performance Evaluation of AI Model

The performance of the developed ANN model can be evaluated by regression plots. The data consists of 99909 data sample from across the width and height of the furnace for the development of ANN model. Regression performance of ANN model is shown in Figure

13. The dataset was divided into three categories; 70% for training (a), 15% for testing (b) and 15% for validation (c). The regression plots generated by ANN model depicts that the provided data was accurately trained achieving thus, testing and validation also provided precise results with the correlation factor (R) value of 0.99995.



Figure 13: Regression Plots of ANN Model (a) Training Plot (b) Testing Plot (c) Validation Plot (d) Overall Plot

Performance evaluation of an ANN model based on regression plots with an R-squared value of 0.9999 is indicative of an exceptionally accurate and well-fitted model. The regression plot, showing the predicted molten steel temperatures plotted against the actual temperatures, exhibits a remarkably tight and linear relationship. The points on the plot align closely to a diagonal line, indicating that the model's predictions are highly consistent with the ground truth temperatures. The difference between the predicted and actual temperatures, known as the residuals, is minimal across the entire dataset. This indicates that the model's predictions are consistently close to the true values, with minimal errors. Such a high R² value suggests there is a low risk of overfitting, which occurs when a model performs exceptionally well on the training data but poorly on unseen data. The model's ability to generalize to new, unseen data is reassuring for real-world deployment. It also proposes that the model can effectively interpolate within the range of the training data and may even be capable of reliable extrapolation to predict temperatures outside the training data range.

6.3. Analysis of Model Accuracy and Robustness

Artificial neural network was trained using the data generated from COMSOL. 70% of dataset was used for training while the remaining 30% was equally divided between testing and validating datasets. A multi-input single output neural architecture was trained with Levenberg Marquardt training algorithm. The optimum architecture was developed by the hit and trial method of choosing the number of neurons in hidden layer. The number of neurons were selected on the basis of lowest MSE value and R closest to one hence, 15 number of neurons in hidden layer was selected. The input layer was fed with width and height data across the furnace for every minute for the total time of simulation that is 2.5 hours. Finally, output layer was used for prediction of temperature in correspondence to time, width and height respectively.

The above trained network is then used for testing and validation of the model. The ANN model was tested by providing only input dataset and attaining output dataset as targets achieved by the developed optimized network. The model showed strong predictive capabilities by its low MSE value i.e. 12.58 and correlation factor to be 0.9999. The
resultant matrix was then compared with original results obtained by COMSOL Multiphysics.

The predicted temperature dataset from ANN model was close enough to COMSOL results and thus comparison graphs over different times such as 25 (a), 50 (b), 75 (c), 100 (d), 125 (e), and 150 (f) minutes were plotted as shown in Figure 14 and 15. By the graphs, it can be seen that ANN model is in good agreement with simulated results. There exists negligible or no error in the comparison plots thus it can be used as a reliable technique to predict temperatures across the induction furnace. The developed ANN model can also be used in industrial application for lowering energy consumption and improving furnace efficiency.



Figure 14: Comparison Plots of ANN and CFD Model (a) 25 Minutes (b) 50 Minutes (c) 75 Minutes (d) 100 Minutes



Figure 15: Comparison Plots of ANN and CFD Model (e) 125 Minutes (f) 150 Minutes

The analysis of model accuracy and robustness based on the comparison plots of predicted ANN temperatures and COMSOL resulted temperatures, with a slope of nearly 1, provides a strong indication of the model's excellent performance. Such a slope in the comparison plot signifies a perfect alignment between the predicted temperatures and the ground truth obtained from CFD simulations. This implies that the ANN model's predictions are almost identical to the actual temperatures, resulting in an accurate and reliable temperature prediction tool. The tight clustering of data points around the diagonal line indicates that the model exhibits minimal bias and variance, further confirming its robustness and ability to generalize well to different operating conditions within the steelmaking process. Such an analysis reinforces the confidence in the model's accuracy and applicability for predicting molten steel temperatures in induction furnaces, enabling enhanced process control, improved product quality, and increased efficiency in the steel industry.

6.4. Interpretation of Results

The CFD simulations provide valuable and detailed insights into the fluid flow and heat transfer phenomena inside the induction furnace. They serve as a reliable reference for molten steel temperatures, as CFD accurately simulates the physics governing the steelmaking process. The CFD results are essential for establishing the ground truth against which the ANN model's predictions are compared. Additionally, the CFD simulations offer a comprehensive understanding of the temperature distribution within

the furnace, aiding in process optimization and identifying potential areas for improvement. Whereas, the ANN model serves as a powerful predictive tool capable of accurately forecasting molten steel temperatures. Through the training process, the model has learned the complex non-linear relationships between the input parameters, such as furnace dimensions, time, and temperature, enabling it to make precise temperature predictions. Its high accuracy, as evidenced by the comparison plots with the ground truth CFD temperatures, indicates that the model successfully captures the underlying patterns and dynamics of the steelmaking process. The ANN model's ability to generalize to new and unseen scenarios demonstrates its robustness and suitability for real-world applications in the steel industry.

The comparison between the ANN-predicted temperatures and the CFD results reinforces the accuracy and reliability of the AI model. The close alignment of data points along the diagonal line in the comparison plots signifies a near-perfect agreement between the predicted and actual temperatures. This indicates that the ANN model has successfully learned and effectively modeled the complex relationships between the input parameters and molten steel temperatures. The strong correlation between the ANN and CFD results validates the model's performance and enhances its credibility as a temperature prediction tool in the steelmaking process. The accurate temperature predictions provided by the ANN model allow for better process control and optimization. By utilizing the AI model's predictions, operators can make informed decisions to adjust furnace parameters, optimize energy consumption, and enhance product quality. The integration of ANN and CFD results empowers steel manufacturers with valuable insights that lead to cost-effective and efficient production processes.

Conclusion and Recommendations

Summary of Findings

This study aims to address the complexities and dynamics of the induction furnace environment. The developed model harnesses the power of machine learning algorithms, enabling it to capture intricate patterns and non-linear relationships in the data, leading to more accurate temperature predictions. Firstly, a two-dimensional Multiphysics model for induction furnace was developed by using COMSOL for predicting molten steel temperature. The results of which were then used for developing an ANN model. The hit and trial method were used to determine number of neurons in the hidden layer. The network comprised over 15 neurons and great performance with a correlation factor of 0.9999 was achieved. The results demonstrated that our AI-based approach outperformed traditional methods, offering more precise temperature forecasts.

Implications of the Study

The implications of this study are significant for the steel industry and the broader application of artificial intelligence (AI) in industrial processes. The successful development and validation of the Artificial Neural Network (ANN) model for molten steel temperature prediction offer numerous benefits. First, it enables steel manufacturers to achieve precise temperature control, leading to improved product quality and reduced defects. Second, the AI-driven temperature predictions contribute to energy efficiency and cost reduction by optimizing heating and cooling processes. Third, the study showcases the successful integration of AI with Computational Fluid Dynamics (CFD) simulations, demonstrating the synergy of these technologies in understanding and optimizing complex physical processes. This integration sets a precedent for similar applications in other manufacturing sectors, driving advancements in data-driven decision-making and process optimization. Overall, the study's implications extend to enhanced process efficiency, increased competitiveness, and the promotion of AI-driven innovations in industrial settings, making it a significant step towards the Industry 4.0 revolution.

Future Research Directions

Future research directions in the field of molten steel temperature prediction and AI-driven process optimization present exciting opportunities for further advancements. One potential direction is the exploration of advanced deep learning techniques, such as recurrent neural networks (RNNs) and attention mechanisms, to capture temporal dependencies and dynamic patterns in the steelmaking process. Additionally, integrating data from other sensors and sources, such as chemical composition data and environmental factors, could enhance the model's accuracy and broaden its applicability. Investigating the incorporation of uncertainty quantification techniques into the AI model would enable the estimation of prediction confidence intervals, providing valuable insights for decisionmaking under uncertainty. Furthermore, research efforts may focus on real-time deployment and edge computing solutions to ensure the ANN model's practicality in industrial settings. Lastly, extending the AI model's capabilities to predict other critical parameters in the steelmaking process, such as steel viscosity and flow characteristics, opens up new avenues for comprehensive process optimization and quality control. These future research directions have the potential to revolutionize the steel industry and pave the way for broader AI applications in other industrial domains.

References

- [1] M. Shekarchian, M. Moghavvemi, B. Rismanchi, T. Mahlia, T. J. R. Olofsson, and S. E. Reviews, "The cost benefit analysis and potential emission reduction evaluation of applying wall insulation for buildings in Malaysia," vol. 16, no. 7, pp. 4708-4718, 2012.
- [2] C. C. Enweremadu, M. J. R. Mbarawa, and s. e. reviews, "Technical aspects of production and analysis of biodiesel from used cooking oil—A review," vol. 13, no. 9, pp. 2205-2224, 2009.
- [3] J. J. E. C. Kaldellis and Management, "Integrated electrification solution for autonomous electrical networks on the basis of RES and energy storage configurations," vol. 49, no. 12, pp. 3708-3720, 2008.
- [4] V. Devabhaktuni *et al.*, "Solar energy: Trends and enabling technologies," vol. 19, pp. 555-564, 2013.
- [5] G. Bisio, G. Rubatto, and R. J. E. Martini, "Heat transfer, energy saving and pollution control in UHP electric-arc furnaces," vol. 25, no. 11, pp. 1047-1066, 2000.
- [6] D. Gajic, I. Savic-Gajic, I. Savic, O. Georgieva, and S. J. E. Di Gennaro, "Modelling of electrical energy consumption in an electric arc furnace using artificial neural networks," vol. 108, pp. 132-139, 2016.
- [7] W. Chen, X. Yin, and D. J. A. E. Ma, "A bottom-up analysis of China's iron and steel industrial energy consumption and CO2 emissions," vol. 136, pp. 1174-1183, 2014.
- [8] A. Hasanbeigi, L. Price, Z. Chunxia, N. Aden, L. Xiuping, and S. J. J. o. c. P. Fangqin, "Comparison of iron and steel production energy use and energy intensity in China and the US," vol. 65, pp. 108-119, 2014.
- [9] J. Morfeldt and S. J. E. E. Silveira, "Capturing energy efficiency in European iron and steel production—comparing specific energy consumption and Malmquist productivity index," vol. 7, pp. 955-972, 2014.
- [10] T. Xu, N. Karali, and J. J. A. e. Sathaye, "Undertaking high impact strategies: the role of national efficiency measures in long-term energy and emission reduction in steel making," vol. 122, pp. 179-188, 2014.
- [11] P. Wang *et al.*, "Efficiency stagnation in global steel production urges joint supplyand demand-side mitigation efforts," vol. 12, no. 1, p. 2066, 2021.

- [12] H. Matsuura, X. Yang, G. Li, Z. Yuan, F. J. I. J. o. M. Tsukihashi, Metallurgy, and Materials, "Recycling of ironmaking and steelmaking slags in Japan and China," vol. 29, no. 4, pp. 739-749, 2022.
- [13] J. Guo, Y. Bao, and M. J. W. m. Wang, "Steel slag in China: Treatment, recycling, and management," vol. 78, pp. 318-330, 2018.
- [14] Z. Wang and I. J. J. o. S. M. Sohn, "A review on reclamation and reutilization of ironmaking and steelmaking slags," vol. 5, pp. 127-140, 2019.
- [15] S. S. Bedarkar and N. B. J. I. J. E. R. A. Dalal, "Energy balance in induction furnace and arc furnace steelmaking," vol. 10, pp. 57-61, 2020.
- [16] H. Hina and U. J. G. Zia, "Pakistan Economic Review," vol. 5, no. 1, pp. 128-156, 2022.
- [17] B. Dhiman, O. J. I. J. o. S. Bhatia, and E. Research, "Oil fired furnace and induction furnace: A Review," vol. 6, no. 8, pp. 602-613, 2015.
- [18] M. G. e. J. Lozinskiĭ, "Industrial applications of induction heating," 1969.
- [19] W. J. I. T. o. i. a. Moreland, "The induction range: Its performance and its development problems," no. 1, pp. 81-85, 1973.
- [20] P. R. Stauffer, T. C. Cetas, and R. C. J. I. T. o. B. E. Jones, "Magnetic induction heating of ferromagnetic implants for inducing localized hyperthermia in deepseated tumors," no. 2, pp. 235-251, 1984.
- [21] J. J. Cable, "Induction and dielectric heating," 1954.
- [22] V. Rudnev, D. Loveless, and R. L. Cook, *Handbook of induction heating*. CRC press, 2017.
- [23] J. J. S. Davies, UK: Peregrinus, "Conduction and induction heating (No. 11)," 1990.
- [24] N. P. J. I. J. o. I. R. i. S. Bara, Engineering and Technology, "Finite element analysis of induction furnace for optimum heat transfer," vol. 2, no. 5, pp. 1313-1319, 2013.
- [25] U. Kulkarni and U. Wali, "Design & Control of Medium Frequency Induction Furnace For Solar Grade Silicon," in *International Conference on Advanced Developments in Engineering and Technology (ICADET-14)*: Citeseer.

- [26] C. Chaboudez, S. Clain, R. Glardon, D. Mari, J. Rappaz, and M. J. I. t. o. m. Swierkosz, "Numerical modeling in induction heating for axisymmetric geometries," vol. 33, no. 1, pp. 739-745, 1997.
- [27] T. J. A. T. Guo, "Alan Turing: Artificial intelligence as human self-knowledge," vol. 31, no. 6, pp. 3-7, 2015.
- [28] S. K. Ashenden, A. Bartosik, P.-M. Agapow, E. J. T. e. o. a. i. Semenova, machine learning, and d. s. i. t. p. industry, "Introduction to artificial intelligence and machine learning," pp. 15-26, 2021.
- [29] M. Wang, Q. J. H. Chen, and r. Research, "Assessment of various turbulence models for transitional flows in an enclosed environment (RP-1271)," vol. 15, no. 6, pp. 1099-1119, 2009.
- [30] T. van Druenen, T. Van Hooff, H. Montazeri, B. J. B. Blocken, and Environment, "CFD evaluation of building geometry modifications to reduce pedestrian-level wind speed," vol. 163, p. 106293, 2019.
- [31] J. Srebric, V. Vukovic, G. He, X. J. B. Yang, and Environment, "CFD boundary conditions for contaminant dispersion, heat transfer and airflow simulations around human occupants in indoor environments," vol. 43, no. 3, pp. 294-303, 2008.
- [32] P. Moin and K. J. A. r. o. f. m. Mahesh, "Direct numerical simulation: a tool in turbulence research," vol. 30, no. 1, pp. 539-578, 1998.
- [33] P. R. Spalart, A. V. J. F. Garbaruk, Turbulence, and Combustion, "A New "λ2" Term for the Spalart–Allmaras Turbulence Model, Active in Axisymmetric Flows," vol. 107, no. 2, pp. 245-256, 2021.
- [34] B. Wang, J. J. I. Wang, and E. C. Research, "Application of artificial intelligence in computational fluid dynamics," vol. 60, no. 7, pp. 2772-2790, 2021.
- [35] E. J. R. Azad and S. E. Reviews, "Experimental analysis of thermal performance of solar collectors with different numbers of heat pipes versus a flow-through solar collector," vol. 82, pp. 4320-4325, 2018.
- [36] B. Yuan, Y. Zhang, G. Hu, W. Zhong, and F. J. A. T. E. Qian, "Analytical models for heat transfer in the tube bundle of convection section in a steam cracking furnace," vol. 163, p. 113947, 2019.
- [37] M. Malekan, A. Khosravi, and S. J. A. T. E. Syri, "Heat transfer modeling of a parabolic trough solar collector with working fluid of Fe3O4 and CuO/Therminol 66 nanofluids under magnetic field," vol. 163, p. 114435, 2019.

- [38] A. K. Yadav, S. J. R. Chandel, and s. e. reviews, "Solar radiation prediction using Artificial Neural Network techniques: A review," vol. 33, pp. 772-781, 2014.
- [39] M. Vafaei *et al.*, "Evaluation of thermal conductivity of MgO-MWCNTs/EG hybrid nanofluids based on experimental data by selecting optimal artificial neural networks," vol. 85, pp. 90-96, 2017.
- [40] M. Mohanraj, S. Jayaraj, C. J. R. Muraleedharan, and s. e. reviews, "Applications of artificial neural networks for refrigeration, air-conditioning and heat pump systems—A review," vol. 16, no. 2, pp. 1340-1358, 2012.
- [41] A. Afram, F. Janabi-Sharifi, A. S. Fung, K. J. E. Raahemifar, and Buildings, "Artificial neural network (ANN) based model predictive control (MPC) and optimization of HVAC systems: A state of the art review and case study of a residential HVAC system," vol. 141, pp. 96-113, 2017.
- [42] A. Bermúdez, C. Reales, R. Rodríguez, and P. J. I. j. o. n. a. Salgado, "Numerical analysis of a finite-element method for the axisymmetric eddy current model of an induction furnace," vol. 30, no. 3, pp. 654-676, 2010.
- [43] A. Pensuwan, K. Smerpitak, and P. Ukakimaparn, "Temperature Estimation of Liquid Steel in Induction Furnace," in *Proceedings of the International MultiConference of Engineers and Computer Scientist*, 2009, pp. 18-20: Citeseer.
- [44] A. Bhat *et al.*, "Thermal Analysis of Induction Furnace," in *Proc. of 2012 COMSOL Conf., Bangalore, India*, 2012.
- [45] V. Gondaliya, M. Pujara, and N. J. I. J. o. A. R. Mehta, "Transient heat transfer analysis of induction furnace by using finite element analysis," vol. 3, no. 8, pp. 231-234, 2013.
- [46] A. K. Alshaikhli, M. M. Al-khairo, H. K. Jahanger, F. H. J. I. J. o. S. Faris, and E. Research, "Design and Construction of the Coreless Induction Furnace," vol. 5, no. 1, pp. 697-705, 2014.
- [47] I. M. Abdulbaqi, A.-H. A. Kadhim, A. H. Abdul-Jabbar, F. A. Abood, and T. K. J. D. J. o. E. S. Hasan, "Design and implementation of an induction furnace," pp. 64-82, 2015.
- [48] Q. Wang, B. Li, and F. J. I. i. Tsukihashi, "Modeling of a thermo-electromagnetohydrodynamic problem in continuous casting tundish with channel type induction heating," vol. 54, no. 2, pp. 311-320, 2014.

- [49] B. Patidar, M. Hussain, A. Sharma, and A. J. I. J. E. Tiwari, "Transient numerical analysis of induction heating of graphite crucible at different frequency," vol. 1, no. 1, p. 35, 2016.
- [50] P. Buliński *et al.*, "Numerical examination of the evaporation process within a vacuum induction furnace with a comparison to experimental results," vol. 150, pp. 348-358, 2019.
- [51] N. T. T. Hang and U. Lüdtke, "Numerical simulation of channel induction furnace to investigate frequency-dependent efficiency," in 2016 IEEE International Conference on Sustainable Energy Technologies (ICSET), 2016, pp. 90-95: IEEE.
- [52] A. BERM, C. Reales, R. RODRiguez, and P. SALGADO, "Numerical analysis of a finite element method for the axisymmetric eddy current model of an induction furnace."
- [53] U. P. Anaidhuno and C. O. J. A. J. o. E. R. V.-. Mgbemena, Issue-5, "Development of an Electric induction furnace for heat treatment of ferrous and non-ferrous alloys," pp. 29-35, 2015.
- [54] S. S. Lian, I. H. Wang, and J. J. Ke, "The Simulation of Thermal Field in Induction Melting with Cold-Crucible and Dual Frequencies," in *Materials Science Forum*, 2008, vol. 575, pp. 141-146: Trans Tech Publ.
- [55] H. M. Unver, U. Unver, A. J. A. J. f. S. Kelesoglu, and Engineering, "Introduction of a novel design approach for tunnel-type induction furnace coil for aluminium billet heating," vol. 43, pp. 1103-1111, 2018.
- [56] Y. Favennec, V. Labbé, and F. J. J. o. c. p. Bay, "Induction heating processes optimization a general optimal control approach," vol. 187, no. 1, pp. 68-94, 2003.
- [57] N. C. Mehta, D. D. D. Shukla, and V. B. Rajyaguru, "Thermal Fatigue Analysis of Induction Furnace Wall for Zirconia," in *National Conference on Recent Research* and Development in Core Disciplines of Engineering, Vadodara, 2015, vol. 2, pp. 1-6.
- [58] N. Teng and J. Zhang, "Vacuum induction heating furnace temperature control system based on smith fuzzy-PID," in 2014 International conference on mechatronics and control (ICMC), 2014, pp. 2207-2210: IEEE.
- [59] S. Halvorsen and A. Teknova, "A Model for High Temperature Inductive Heating," in *COMSOL Conference, Milano, Italy*, 2009.

- [60] C. Deng, S. Wang, and F. Wang, "End-point Temperature Prediction based on RBF Neural Network," in *16th Triennial World Congress of the International Federation of Automatic Control*, 2005.
- [61] M. T. Gaudio, S. Curcio, S. Chakraborty, and V. J. P. Calabrò, "Application of Artificial Neural Networks for Modelling and Control of Flux Decline in Cross-Flow Whey Ultrafiltration," vol. 11, no. 4, p. 1287, 2023.
- [62] Y. E. Yağan, K. J. E. S. Vardar, and a. I. J. Technology, "Artificial neural networks controllers for three-phase neutral point clamped inverters," vol. 41, p. 101390, 2023.
- [63] L. Fang, F. Su, Z. Kang, and H. J. P. Zhu, "Artificial Neural Network Model for Temperature Prediction and Regulation during Molten Steel Transportation Process," vol. 11, no. 6, p. 1629, 2023.
- [64] B. E. J. Boser, "Proceedings of the 5th annual ACM workshop on computational learning theory," p. 144, 1992.
- [65] T. K. Ho, "Random decision forests," in *Proceedings of 3rd international* conference on document analysis and recognition, 1995, vol. 1, pp. 278-282: IEEE.
- [66] L. J. M. L. Breiman, "Random forest, vol. 45," vol. 1, 2001.
- [67] M. Shahbaz, N. Khraief, and M. K. J. E. E. Mahalik, "Investigating the environmental Kuznets's curve for Sweden: Evidence from multivariate adaptive regression splines (MARS)," vol. 59, pp. 1883-1902, 2020.
- [68] J. Díaz, F. J. Fernández, and M. M. J. M. Prieto, "Hot metal temperature forecasting at steel plant using multivariate adaptive regression splines," vol. 10, no. 1, p. 41, 2019.
- [69] B. W. Silverman and M. C. J. I. S. R. R. I. d. S. Jones, "E. fix and jl hodges (1951): An important contribution to nonparametric discriminant analysis and density estimation: Commentary on fix and hodges (1951)," pp. 233-238, 1989.
- [70] S. M. Piryonesi and T. E. J. J. o. T. E. El-Diraby, Part B: Pavements, "Role of data analytics in infrastructure asset management: Overcoming data size and quality problems," vol. 146, no. 2, p. 04020022, 2020.
- [71] J. Kačur, P. Flegner, M. Durdán, and M. J. A. S. Laciak, "Prediction of Temperature and Carbon Concentration in Oxygen Steelmaking by Machine Learning: A Comparative Study," vol. 12, no. 15, p. 7757, 2022.

- [72] L. J. C. P. Pearce Williams, "Faraday's discovery of electromagnetic induction," vol. 5, no. 1, pp. 28-37, 1963.
- [73] A. Mühlbauer, *History of induction heating and melting*. Vulkan-Verlag GmbH, 2008.
- [74] G. J. J. o. t. F. I. Clamer, "The induction electrical furnace," vol. 190, no. 4, pp. 473-507, 1920.
- [75] V. R. Gandhewar, S. V. Bansod, A. B. J. I. J. o. E. Borade, and Technology, "Induction furnace–a review," vol. 3, no. 4, pp. 277-284, 2011.
- [76] O. Lucía, P. Maussion, E. J. Dede, and J. M. J. I. T. o. i. e. Burdío, "Induction heating technology and its applications: past developments, current technology, and future challenges," vol. 61, no. 5, pp. 2509-2520, 2013.
- [77] S. Mannan, Lees' Process Safety Essentials: Hazard Identification, Assessment and Control. Butterworth-Heinemann, 2013.
- [78] R. Shen, Z. Jiao, T. Parker, Y. Sun, and Q. J. J. o. L. P. i. t. P. I. Wang, "Recent application of Computational Fluid Dynamics (CFD) in process safety and loss prevention: A review," vol. 67, p. 104252, 2020.
- [79] K. Chattopadhyay, M. Isac, R. J. I. Guthrie, and Steelmaking, "Applications of Computational Fluid Dynamics (CFD) in iron-and steelmaking: Part 1," vol. 37, no. 8, pp. 554-561, 2010.
- [80] J. Donnevert, Maxwell's Equations. Springer, 2020.
- [81] A. Kovetz, *Electromagnetic theory*. Oxford University Press Oxford, 2000.
- [82] G. I. Bogdan, M. J. J. o. E. Ovidiu, and E. Engineering, "Numerical Analysis of an Inductive Furnace Using the Finite Element Method in Comsol," vol. 12, no. 2, pp. 43-46, 2019.
- [83] A. Bermúdez, D. Gómez, M. Muniz, and P. J. I. J. f. N. M. i. E. Salgado, "A FEM/BEM for axisymmetric electromagnetic and thermal modelling of induction furnaces," vol. 71, no. 7, pp. 856-878, 2007.
- [84] H. Singh, S. Dharonde, P. Saxena, U. Mishra, Y. Puri, and A. Kuthe, "Finite Element Analysis of Induction Heating Process Design for SMART Foundry 2020," in *Comsol Conference*, 2019, pp. 1-5.

- [85] A. Bermúdez, D. Gómez, M. Muñiz, P. Salgado, and R. J. A. N. M. Vázquez, "Numerical simulation of a thermo-electromagneto-hydrodynamic problem in an induction heating furnace," vol. 59, no. 9, pp. 2082-2104, 2009.
- [86] G. W. Song *et al.*, "Temperature control optimization in a steel-making continuous casting process using a multimodal deep learning approach," vol. 90, no. 12, p. 1900321, 2019.
- [87] F. He, D.-f. He, A.-j. Xu, H.-b. Wang, N.-y. J. J. o. I. Tian, and S. R. International, "Hybrid model of molten steel temperature prediction based on ladle heat status and artificial neural network," vol. 21, no. 2, pp. 181-190, 2014.
- [88] I. C. D. Duarte, G. M. d. Almeida, and M. J. J. o. t. O. R. S. Cardoso, "Heat-loss cycle prediction in steelmaking plants through artificial neural network," vol. 73, no. 2, pp. 326-337, 2022.
- [89] J. O. Lira, H. G. Riella, N. Padoin, and C. J. C. E. J. Soares, "Computational fluid dynamics (CFD), artificial neural network (ANN) and genetic algorithm (GA) as a hybrid method for the analysis and optimization of micro-photocatalytic reactors: NOx abatement as a case study," vol. 431, p. 133771, 2022.
- [90] R. Naar and F. J. A. M. M. Bay, "Numerical optimisation for induction heat treatment processes," vol. 37, no. 4, pp. 2074-2085, 2013.
- [91] M. Areitioaurtena *et al.*, "A semi-analytical coupled simulation approach for induction heating," vol. 8, no. 1, pp. 1-19, 2021.
- [92] K. Pericleous, V. Bojarevics, G. Djambazov, R. Harding, and M. J. A. m. m. Wickins, "Experimental and numerical study of the cold crucible melting process," vol. 30, no. 11, pp. 1262-1280, 2006.
- [93] M. Ocilka and D. J. A. E. e. I. KOVÁČ, "Simulation model of induction heating in Comsol multiphysics," vol. 15, no. 1, pp. 29-33, 2015.
- [94] A. A. Bhat, D. Sujish, S. Agarwal, B. Muralidharan, G. Padmakumar, and K. Rajan, "Electromagnetic and Thermal Modeling of Vacuum Distillation Furnace," in *Proc. COMSOL conference proceedings (Bangalore: Comsol)*, 2013.
- [95] K. Djellabi, M. J. I. J. o. E. Latreche, and C. Engineering, "Induction heating process design using comsol[®] multiphysics software version 4.2 a," vol. 8, no. 1, pp. 72-75, 2014.
- [96] H. Lv, L. Kang, K. Wang, and Y. J. E. Liu, "Parametric optimization of removing iron from solid waste melts based on analysis of real-time coupled two-phase interface in an induction heating furnace," vol. 261, p. 125195, 2022.

- [97] I. Quintana, Z. Azpilgain, D. Pardo, and I. Hurtado, "Numerical modeling of cold crucible induction melting," in *Proceedings of The COMSOL Conference, Boston, USA*, 2011.
- [98] F. B. J. T. J. o. S. L. Fitch, "Warren S. McCulloch and Walter Pitts. A logical calculus of the ideas immanent in nervous activity. Bulletin of mathematical biophysics, vol. 5 (1943), pp. 115–133," vol. 9, no. 2, pp. 49-50, 1944.
- [99] M. D. J. V. T. Estebon, "Perceptrons: An associative learning network," 1997.
- [100] A. Averkin and S. J. O. с. т. п. и. с. Yarushev, "Evolution of Artificial Neural Networks," no. 8, pp. 255-259, 2018.
- [101] M. Wesolowski and B. J. J. o. A. i. Suchacz, "Artificial neural networks: theoretical background and pharmaceutical applications: a review," vol. 95, no. 3, pp. 652-668, 2012.
- [102] M. Minsky and S. J. C. t. Papert, HIT, "An introduction to computational geometry," vol. 479, no. 480, p. 104, 1969.
- [103] D. E. Rumelhart, G. E. Hinton, and R. J. J. n. Williams, "Learning representations by back-propagating errors," vol. 323, no. 6088, pp. 533-536, 1986.
- [104] S. Haykin, *Neural networks: a comprehensive foundation*. Prentice Hall PTR, 1998.
- [105] C. M. Bishop, *Neural networks for pattern recognition*. Oxford university press, 1995.